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FILE NO. 211258 MOTION NO.

[Final Map No. 9475 - 668-678 Page Street]

Motion approving Final Map No. 9475, a six residential unit condominium project,
located at 668-678 Page Street, being a subdivision of Assessor’s Parcel Block No.
0843, Lot No. 015; and adopting findings pursuant to the General Plan, and the eight

priority policies of Planning Code, Section 101.1.

MOVED, That the certain map entitled “FINAL MAP No. 9475”, a six residential unit
condominium project, located at 668-678 Page Street, being a subdivision of Assessor’s
Parcel Block No. 0843, Lot No. 015, comprising four sheets, approved December 1, 2021, by
Department of Public Works Order No. 205780 is hereby approved and said map is adopted
as an Official Final Map No. 9475; and, be it

FURTHER MOVED, That the San Francisco Board of Supervisors adopts as its own
and incorporates by reference herein as though fully set forth the order of the San
Francisco Superior Court in Owens et al. v. City & County of San Francisco, San Francisco
Superior Court (Case No. CPF-18-516203; First District Court of Appeal, Case No. A157981),
and notwithstanding the statements in the Planning Department’s letter dated March 19, 2018,
that said Final Map complies with all subdivision requirements related thereto; and, be it

FURTHER MOVED, That the San Francisco Board of Supervisors hereby authorizes
the Director of the Department of Public Works to enter all necessary recording information on
the Final Map and authorizes the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors to execute the Clerk’s
Statement as set forth herein; and, be it

FURTHER MOVED, That approval of this map is also conditioned upon compliance by
the subdivider with all applicable provisions of the San Francisco Subdivision Code and

amendments thereto.

Public Works
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS Page 1
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DESCRIPTION APPROVED:

/sl

Jacob F. Rems, PLS 4636
For Acting City and County Surveyor
James M. Ryan, PLS 8630

Public Works
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

RECOMMENDED:

/s/

Carla Short

Interim Director of Public Works

Page 2
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: San Francisco Public Works
?.h}iz%.'\ General — Director’s Office
SAN FRANCISCO 49 South Van Ness Ave., Suite 1600

PUBLIC San Francisco, CA 94103
WORKS (628) 271-3160 www.SFPublicWorks.org

Public Works Order No: 205780

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO
SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC WORKS

APPROVING FINAL MAP NO. 9475, 668-678 PAGE STREET, A 6 UNIT RESIDENTIAL
CONDOMINIUM PROJECT, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF LOT 015 IN ASSESSORS BLOCK NO. 0843
(OR ASSESSORS PARCEL NUMBER 0843-015). [SEE MAP]

A 6 UNIT RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUM PROJECT

The Director of Public Works, the Advisory Agency, acting in concurrence with other City agencies, has
determined that said Final Map complies with all subdivision requirements related thereto. Pursuant to
the California Subdivision Map Act, the San Francisco Subdivision Code, and the order of the San
Francisco Superior Court in Owens et al. v. City & County of San Francisco, San Francisco Superior
Court (Case No. CPF-18-516203; First District Court of Appeal, Case No. A157981), and
notwithstanding the statements in the Planning Department’s letter dated March 19, 2018, the Director
recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve the aforementioned Final Map No. 9475.

Transmitted herewith are the following:

One (1) paper copy of the Motion approving said map — one (1) copy in electronic format.

One (1) mylar signature sheet and one (1) paper set of the “Final Map No. 9475, comprising 4 sheets.

One (1) copy of the Tax Certificate from the Office of the Treasurer and Tax Collector certifying that there are
no liens against the property for taxes or special assessments collected as taxes.

One (1) copy of the letter dated March 19, 2018, from the City Planning Department.

One (1) copy of the Writ of Mandate dated April 29, 2021, issued by the Superior Court of California, County
of San Francisco, directing the City to set aside its denial of the map application and approve the map
application.

ok R

It is recommended that the Board of Supervisors adopt the attached Motion.

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED:


http://www.sfpublicworks.org/

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8A7C80ED-A90B-47F9-9ECC-26D14FD919E3
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Rems, Jac\)‘b‘F687D522F°95471--- Short, CarIaL°73CF73A4EA6486»--
Chief Surveyor, PLS 4636 Interim Director of Public Works



City and County of San Francisco
San Francisco Public Works - Bureau of Street-Use and Mapping

1155 Market Street, 3rd Floor - San Francisco, CA 94103
sfpublicworks.org - tel 415-554-5810 - fax 415-554-6161
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TENTATIVE MAP DECISION
Date: October 18, 2017 Prﬂject 1D:B475
) ) Project Type:p Units Condo Conversion
De"""“"_‘e‘?* of City F""‘“’T”"Q ddress# StreetName Block Lot
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400 668 -678 PAGE ST 0843 015
San Francisco, CA 94103 entative Map Referral

Attention: Mr. Scott F. Sanchez

Please review and respond to this referral within 30 days in accordance with the Subdivision Map Act.

e v
ADRIAN VERHAGEN Mm"“m"asm:m

Date: 2017.10.18 13:50:24 0700

for, Bruce R. Storrs, P.L.S.
City and County Surveyor

. The subject Tentative Map has been reviewed by the Planning Department and does comply with applicable
prov1510ns of the Planning Code. On balance, the Tentative Map is consistent with the General Plan and the Priority Policies
of Planning Code Section 101.1 based on the attached findings. The subject referral is exempt from California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) environmental review as
categorically exempt Class, ™~ ", CEQA Determination Date """ _based on the attached checklist.

~ The subject Tentative Map has been reviewed by the Planning Department and does comply with applicable
provisions of the Planning Code subject to the attached conditions.

l/ The subject Tentative Map has been reviewed by the Planning Department and does not comply with appllcable
prov151ons of the Planning Code due to the following reason(s): /D¢V‘t lannin ovmm(SSion

fe[/ honyua. <0132
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Signed, @«.’f—(/ - 1w 3/ifig

Z
Planner's Name Da.w'at ) MGISSQIQ{,’ o
for, Scott F. Sanchez, Zoning Administfator




SAN FRANCISCO
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Memo to the Planning Commission

HEARING DATE: MARCH 8§, 2018
Continued from the January 11, 2018 Hearing

Date: March 1, 2018

Case No.: 2017-013609CND

Project Address: ~ 668-678 PAGE STREET

Zoning: RH-3 (Residential-House, Three Family) District
40-X Height and Bulk District

Block/Lot: 0843 /015

Rosemarie MacGuinness
388 Market Street, Suite 1300
San Francisco, CA 94111

Project Sponsor:

Staff Contact: David Weissglass — (415) 575-9177
david.weissglass@sfgov.org
Recommendation:  Disapproval
BACKGROUND

At the January 11, 2018 Planning Commission hearing, the project sponsor sought approval of a
Condominium Conversion Subdivision of a three-story-over-garage, six-unit building within a RH-3
(Residential-House, Three Family) Zoning District and a 40-X Height and Bulk District. The subject
building is considered a legal use as the Report of Residential Building Record indicates that the legal
authorized occupancy and use is a six-unit dwelling. Although Department staff recommended that the
Commission approve the Project, after the public hearing had closed the Commission moved to continue
the project to the February 1, 2018 public hearing with an intent to disapprove the case per Subdivision
Code Sections 1386 and 1396. At the February 1, 2018 hearing, the case was further continued to the
March 8, 2018 public hearing.

At the public hearing on January 11, 2018, a number of speakers gave public comment regarding the case
of Iris Canada, an elderly occupant of one of the building’s units who was removed from the unit on
February 10, 2017. The project sponsor alleged that Ms. Canada was granted a Life Estate in 2005,
allowing her to remain in her unit for the duration of her lifetime, after which the property would return
to the possession of the sponsor. The sponsor further alleged that Ms. Canada ceased to live in the unit
permanently in 2012, therefore breaking the terms of the Life Estate. The sponsor claims that after his
attempts to contact Ms. Canada and restore her Life Estate were not received, he moved to obtain
possession of the unit, which was granted in court.

The majority of speakers at the hearing were opposed to the request, claiming that Ms. Canada did not
break the terms of her Life Estate and continued to live in her unit until her removal on February 10, 2017.
Many of the speakers alleged that the sponsors unlawfully evicted Iris Canada from her unit in
preparation for the Condominium Conversion and as a result the Project should be denied for its
inconsistency with the goals of the General Plan as well as the Subdivision Code. At the January 11, 2018

www.sfplanning.org

1650 Mission St.
Suite 400

San Francisco,
CA 94103-2479

Reception:
415.558.6378

Fax:
415.558.6409

Planning
Information:

415.558.6377
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Memo to Planning Commission CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

hearing, the Commission and Department staff were made aware of additional documents and details
regarding the legal battle.

CURRENT PROPOSAL

The proposal of a Condominium Conversion Subdivision remains. However, per the Planning
Commission’s motion at the January 11, 2018 public hearing and given the introduction of new
information regarding the Project, Department staff now recommend that the Commission disapprove
the Project.

REQUIRED COMMISSION ACTION

In order for the project to proceed, the Commission must disapprove the request for a Condominium
Conversion Subdivision per Subdivision Code Sections 1386 and 1396.

BASIS FOR RECOMMENDATION

= The project is inconsistent with the requirements set for the in Section 1386 of the San Francisco
Subdivision Code.

=  The project is inconsistent with the Objectives and Policies of the General Plan.

= The Project does not comply with the eight priority-planning policies set forth in Planning Code
Section 101.1(b).

RECOMMENDATION: Disapproval

Attachments:

Draft Motion

Exhibits

Project Sponsor Submittal

2012.0909D Discretionary Review application
June 2016 Superior Court order of attorneys’ fees

SAN FRANCISCO 2
PLANNING DEPARTMENT




SAN FRANCISCO
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

Subject to: (Select only if applicable)
[0 Affordable Housing (Sec. 415)
O Jobs Housing Linkage Program (Sec. 413)

O First Source Hiring (Admin. Code)
O Child Care Requirement (Sec. 414)

[0 Downtown Park Fee (Sec. 412) O Other
Planning Commission Draft Motion
HEARING DATE: MARCH 8, 2018
Date: March 1, 2018
Case No.: 2017-013609CND
Project Address:  668-678 PAGE STREET
Zoning: RH-3 (Residential-House, Three Family) District
40-X Height and Bulk District
Block/Lot: 0843 /015

Rosemarie MacGuinness
388 Market Street, Suite 1300
San Francisco, CA 94111

Project Sponsor:

Staff Contact: David Weissglass — (415) 575-9177
david.weissglass@sfgov.org
Recommendation: ~ Disapproval

ADOPTING FINDINGS RELATING TO THE DISAPPROVAL OF A CONDOMINIUM
CONVERSION SUBDIVISION OF A THREE-STORY-OVER-GARAGE, SIX-UNIT BUILDING INTO
RESIDENTIAL CONDOMINIUMS, PURSUANT TO THE GENERAL PLAN AND SUBDIVISION
CODE SECTIONS 1386 AND 1396, WITHIN A RH-3 (RESIDENTIAL-HOUSE, THREE FAMILY)
ZONING DISTRICT AND A 40-X HEIGHT AND BULK DISTRICT.

PREAMBLE

On September 25, 2017, Rosemarie MacGuiness (hereinafter “Project Sponsor”) filed an application with
the Department of Public Works, Bureau of Street Use and Mapping for Planning Department review to
allow the Condominium Conversion Subdivision of a three-story-over-garage, six-unit building into
residential condominiums within a RH-3 (Residential-House, Three Family) Zoning District and a 40-X
Height and Bulk District. The subject building is considered a legal use as the Report of Residential
Building Record indicates that the legal authorized occupancy and use is a six-unit dwelling.

On January 11, 2018, the San Francisco Planning Commission (hereinafter “Commission”) conducted a

duly noticed public hearing at a regularly scheduled meeting on Condominium Conversion Subdivision
Application No. 2017-013609CND. At the hearing, the Project was presented to the Commission, public

www.sfplanning.org

1650 Mission St.
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San Francisco,
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Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

testimony was heard, and after consideration, the Commission adopted a motion of intent to deny the
project and continued the matter to February 1, 2018. At the February 1, 2018 hearing, the Commission
further continued the matter to March 8, 2018.

Section 1396, Article 9 of the Subdivision Code of the City and County of San Francisco sets forth the
following rules and regulations for condominium conversions:

A. Units may be converted to condominiums so long as they meet the requirements of the Expedited
Conversion Program per the Subdivision Code. An exception is provided for two-unit buildings
where both units are owner-occupied for one year.

B. The following categories of buildings may be converted to condominiums:

i.  Buildings consisting of four units or less in which at least one of the units has been
occupied continuously by one of the owners of record for five years prior to the date of
application for conversion.

ii.  Buildings consisting of six units or less in which at least three of the units have been
occupied continuously by three of the owners of record for five years prior to the date of
application for conversion.

The Subdivision Code requires that the Planning Commission hold a public hearing to review
condominium conversion subdivisions containing five to six units for consistency with the General Plan
where at least one unit is residential. The Code calls for a sales program which promotes affirmative
action in housing, a non-transferable tenant right of first-refusal to purchase the unit occupied by the
tenant and various relocation requirements, including the right to a $1,000 relocation payment.

The Subdivision Code further provides for a lifetime lease for all tenants aged 62 years or older and/or
are permanently disabled, and requires that no less than 40 percent of the tenants either have signed
Intent to Purchase forms or be in a position of accepting such a lifetime lease. The Code prohibits any
increase in rents while the conversion application is pending before the City.

Section 1386, Article 9 of the Subdivision Code of the City and County of San Francisco requires that the
Planning Commission disapprove the Tentative Map if it determines that vacancies in the project have
been increased, elderly or permanently disabled tenants have been displaced or discriminated against in
leasing units, evictions have occurred for the purpose of preparing the building for conversion, or the
subdivider has knowingly submitted incorrect information.

The project was determined not to be a project under CEQA Guidelines Sections 15060(c) and 15378
because there is no direct or indirect physical change in the environment.

The Commission has heard and considered the testimony presented to it at the public hearing and has
further considered written materials and oral testimony presented on behalf of the applicant, Department
staff and other interested parties.

SAN FRANCISCO 2
PLANNING DEPARTMENT



Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

MOVED, that the Commission hereby disapproves the Condominium Conversion Subdivision requested
in Application No. 2017-013609CND based on the following findings:

FINDINGS

Having reviewed the materials identified in the preamble above, and having heard all testimony and

arguments, this Commission finds, concludes, and determines as follows:

1.

The above recitals are accurate and constitute findings of this Commission.

The applicant requests Planning Department review of a Condominium Conversion Subdivision
Application to allow for the conversion of the multi-unit building.

As required by Section 1396 of the San Francisco Subdivision Code, at least three of the units
have been owner occupied continuously by one or more of the owners of record for five years
prior to the date of application for conversion.

Tenants in the subject building were notified of their right of first-refusal to purchase the unit
they occupy, as required by the Subdivision Code, and of other rights to which they are entitled
under provisions of the same Code.

A search of the Rent Board database did not show any tenant petitions or no-fault eviction notices
filed with the Rent Board in the last 5 years. However, a San Francisco County Sheriff did remove
the belongings of Iris Canada, an elderly woman occupying the unit at 670 Page Street, on
February 10, 2017.

The Project is inconsistent with the requirements set forth in Section 1386, Article 9 of the San
Francisco Subdivision Code, as follows:

a. Iris Canada was an elderly woman who had resided at 670 Page Street for a number of
years before her displacement on February 10, 2017. After reaching an agreement in
which Ms. Canada was granted a Life Estate in 2005, the subdivider alleged in 2016 that
Ms. Canada had broken the terms of the Life Estate by failing to permanently reside at
670 Page Street and ordered that she vacate the unit. Later that year, The Superior Court
of California granted Ms. Canada relief and allowed her to remain in the unit, but
required that she pay Plaintiffs’ attorney fees. Ms. Canada was unable to make such
payment, and was thereafter displaced from 670 Page Street on February 10, 2017, when
her items were removed from the unit by a San Francisco County Sheriff and the locks
were changed.

b. Iris Canada’s displacement occurred on February 10, 2017 for the purpose of preparing
the building for conversion. While this was not a “no-fault” eviction as determined by the
Rent Board, the Planning Commission may consider this information as part of its review

SAN FRANCISCO 3
PLANNING DEPARTMENT



Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

of the application and as provided in Subdivision Code Section 1386. The initial Notice to
Vacate issued by the Sheriff’s Department specifically notes that 670 Page Street is the
“Eviction Address.”

c. The subdivider submitted incorrect information to the City and County of San Francisco.
A Discretionary Review application (2012.0909D), filed with the Planning Department on
July 2, 2014 by the occupant of 678 Page Street, specifically mentions Iris Canada as the
current occupant of 670 Page Street. This information is inconsistent with the building
history listed on “Form 1” of the subdivider’s application to the Department of Public
Works, which states that 670 Page Street was “vacant” from November 2012-January
2017.

d. While the Court may have determined that Ms. Canada was no longer entitled to a life
estate under the specific terms of a private agreement, there is evidence showing that she
continued to be a tenant of the unit until February 10, 2017.

7. On balance, the Project is inconsistent with the Objectives and Policies of the General Plan, as
follows:

HOUSING ELEMENT

Objectives and Policies

OBJECTIVE 2:
RETAIN EXISTING HOUSING UNITS, AND PROMOTE SAFETY AND MAINTENANCE
STANDARDS, WITHOUT JEOPARDIZING AFFORDABILITY.

Policy 2.4:
Promote improvements and continued maintenance to existing units to ensure long term
habitation and safety.

Property owners are required to correct outstanding code violations identified in a Physical Inspection
Report issued by the Department of Building Inspection (DBI). All work must be completed and a DBI
Certificate of Final Completion must be issued prior to DPW approval.

OBJECTIVE 3:
PROTECT THE AFFORDABILITY OF THE EXISTING HOUSING STOCK, ESPECIALLY
RENTAL UNITS.

Policy 3.3:
Maintain balance in affordability of existing housing stock by supporting affordable moderate
ownership opportunities.

Conwversions of rental stock to condominiums can help achieve affordable homeownership, providing a
category of housing stock for moderate income housing needs. Property owners must achieve this

SAN FRANCISCO 4
PLANNING DEPARTMENT



Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

conversion through one of the City’s conversion programs, such as the Expedited Conversion Program, The
Expedited Conversion Program allows property owners to apply to convert their units into condominiums
provided they adhere to the strict standards of the program, including but not limited to restrictions on
displacement of or discrimination against elderly or permanently disabled tenants, evicting tenants for the
purposes of preparing the property for conversion, and providing incorrect or incomplete information in
application documents. By displacing an elderly tenant for the purpose of preparing the building for
conversion and submitting incorrect or incomplete information to the agencies of the City and County of
San Francisco, the subdivider has failed to achieve the standards set for such conversion. Therefore, this
project does not meet the goals of Policy 3.3.

8. Planning Code Section 101.1(b) establishes eight priority-planning policies and requires review
of permits for consistency with said policies. On balance, the project does not comply with said
policies in that:

A. That existing neighborhood-serving retail uses be preserved and enhanced and future
opportunities for resident employment in and ownership of such businesses be enhanced.

The proposal would have no adverse effect upon existing neighborhood-serving retail uses as it is a
change in form of residential tenure.

B. That existing housing and neighborhood character be conserved and protected in order to
preserve the cultural and economic diversity of our neighborhoods.

The proposal is a change in form of residential tenure and would not alter the existing housing and
neighborhood character of the vicinity. However, the economic diversity of the neighborhood would
likely be altered as a result of the Project, as a conversion of units from rental to ownership may affect
who occupies the units, thus resulting in a less economically diverse neighborhood and City.

C. That the City's supply of affordable housing be preserved and enhanced,

No housing would be removed for this project, but eviction of a long-term resident in order to convert
to a higher value form of housing is not in keeping with the City’s goal of maintaining affordable
housing. While the maintaining of a certain class of housing available for ownership opportunity is
important, the eviction of a long-term tenant does not satisfy the City’s goals of protecting tenants of
rental units or ensuring that more affordable rental units are available to residents.

D. That commuter traffic not impede MUNI transit service or overburden our streets or
neighborhood parking.

The proposal is a change in form of residential tenure and would not affect public transit or
neighborhood parking.

SAN FRANCISCO 5
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Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

E. That a diverse economic base be maintained by protecting our industrial and service sectors

from displacement due to commercial office development, and that future opportunities for
resident employment and ownership in these sectors be enhanced.

The proposal is a change in form of residential tenure and would not involve the industrial or service
sectors of the City.

That the City achieve the greatest possible preparedness to protect against injury and loss of
life in an earthquake.

The proposal is subject to inspection by the Department of Building Inspection and will be required to
make any code required repairs, including those related to life safety issues, prior to the recordation of
the final condominium subdivision map.

That landmarks and historic buildings be preserved.

The proposal is a change in form of residential tenure and would not affect landmarks or historic
buildings.

That our parks and open space and their access to sunlight and vistas be protected from
development.

The proposal is a change in form of residential tenure and would not affect public parks or open space.

9. The Project is inconsistent with and would not promote the general and specific purposes of the

Code provided under Section 101.1(b) in that, as designed and proposed, and given the actions of

the subdividers, the Project would not contribute to the character and stability of the

neighborhood and would not constitute a beneficial development.

10. The Commission hereby finds that approval of the Condominium Conversion Subdivision would

not promote the health, safety and welfare of the City.

SAN FRANCISCO

PLANNING DEPARTMENT



Draft Motion CASE NO. 2017-013609CND
Hearing Date: March 8, 2018 668-678 Page Street

DECISION

That based upon the Record, the submissions by the Applicant, Department staff and other interested
parties, the oral testimony presented to this Commission at the public hearings and all other written
materials submitted by all parties, the Commission hereby DISAPPROVES Condominium Conversion
Subdivision Application No. 2017-013609CND.

I hereby certify that the Planning Commission ADOPTED the foregoing Motion on March 8, 2018, 2018.

Jonas Ionin
Commission Secretary

AYES:
NAYS:
ABSENT:

ADOPTED: March §, 2018

SAN FRANCISCO 7
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Conditional Use Hearing
Case Number 2017-013609CND

668-678 Page Street
Block 0843 Lot 015
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Conditional Use Hearing
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220 Montgomery St February 26,2018 . Scott Emblidge
Suite 2100 emblidge@mosconelaw.com
San Francisco

California 94104 Vig Hand Delivery and Email

Ph: (415) 362-3599
Fax: (415) 362-2006  Rich Hillis, President
www.mosconelaw.com  oan Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94102-4689

Re: 668-678 Page Street Condo Conversion Application

Dear President Hillis and Members of the Planning Commission:

I write to follow up on the January 11 hearing you held on this
matter, and in anticipation of your further consideration of this
matter at your March 8 meeting. You heard from many opponents
on January 11 who told you a tale that, if true, would make any
reasonable person want to find a way to deny this application. As
described to you by the opponents, the applicants evicted 100-year-
old Iris Canada, lied to the City about whether Ms. Canada was
residing at 670 Page Street, took advantage of her by obtaining a
judgment when Ms. Canada had no lawyer representing her, and
then told Ms. Canada she could move back to her Page Street unit
only if she paid them over $100,000 awarded by the court. That
certainly sounds like shameful conduct - if it were true.

But the allegations you heard that day are not true, as documents and
sworn testimony prove. Ms. Canada was an owner of, not a tenant in,
her unit. As such, she could not be “evicted.” And Ms. Canada was
not residing in her unit. Ms. Canada left her unit in 2012 to move in
with her grand-niece, Iris Merriouns, in Oakland because she was no
longer able to care for herself. Ms. Merriouns testified to this under
oath. The sworn testimony of all Ms. Canada’s neighbors
corroborates this. This meant that Ms. Canada failed to comply with
her ownership obligations under her life estate and, because of the
intransigence of her grand-niece, Mr. Owens was forced, by the
agreement’s terms, to obtain a court order foreclosing her life estate.
This action - foreclosure against a defaulting owner - in no way
disqualifies a building under San Francisco’s condo conversion
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ordinance. And contrary to what you heard on January 11, Ms. Canada had
ample legal counsel. During this whole process, she was represented by at
least ten different attorneys, and at least four different attorneys appeared on
her behalf in court.

Finally, after months of litigation in which Ms. Canada’s attorneys and Ms.
Merriouns were repeatedly sanctioned by the Superior Court for misconduct,
and which resulted in judgment for Mr. Owens including a monetary award
of over $169,000, Mr. Owens offered to (a) let Ms. Canada return to her Page
Street unit, (b) permit her to reside there with a caregiver (even though the
life estate did not permit a second resident), and (c) not enforce the court’s
monetary award.! That’s right, Mr. Owens said, effectively, “come on back
and live at Page Street and I'll absorb all the attorneys’ fees you and your
grand-niece forced me to incur.” But at her grand-niece’s insistence, and
against the advice of her attorneys, Ms. Canada turned this down. Why?
Because her grand-niece insisted that Mr. Owens sell the Page Street unit to
her at a windfall price. Just who is exploiting whom in this scenario?

The point of this letter is to substantiate these verifiable facts and differentiate
them from the unsupported accusations made by the opponents at the January
hearing, so that this Commission can make an informed decision on March 8.

Iris Canada Did Not Reside at 670 Page Street

You heard several people say that they “know” that Iris Canada lived at 670
Page Street because they saw her picture in the paper or saw her photo being
taken at a press event sitting on a couch in the unit. Here are the facts, taken
from testimony under oath.

Ms. Canada’s grand-niece Iris Merriouns testified under oath that Ms. Canada
had been living with Ms. Merriouns in Oakland and attending adult daycare
in Oakland since at least May 2014. “She stays with me most nights, wherever
I am, she is.” (Exhibit A at 34:9-10; 41:23-25; 121:5-9.) Ms. Merriouns also
testified she had been her primary caregiver since December 2012 (Exhibit A
at 43:10-16; 82:7-11) and that she did not trust Ms. Canada “to stay by herself,

1 Commissioners, if you read nothing else attached to this letter, please read
Exhibits S, T and U which detail the offers Mr. Owens made to Ms. Canada that
would have allowed her to return to Page Street.
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especially at the Page Street address.” (Exhibit A at 31:15-22; 32:10-16; 42:18-
43:16.)

All of Ms. Canada’s neighbors testified under oath that starting in 2012, Ms.
Canada no longer appeared to be living at 670 Page Street. For example,
Anna Munoz lives in 676 Page Street and passed by Ms. Canada’s door
regularly. (Exhibit B at 1:21-26; 4:20-24.) Prior to 2012, Ms. Munoz saw and
talked with Ms. Canada on a regular basis. From 2012 forward, she only saw
Ms. Canada on rare occasions “when she would arrive at the building with
Iris Merriouns. They would arrive, stay for a few hours and then leave and
not be seen again for several months.” (Exhibit B at 2:16-20.)

Jamie Anne Pierce testified that in 2014 she moved into 668 Page Street,
directly adjacent to 670 Page Street. (Exhibit C at 1:25-28.) The two
apartments share a sixty-foot-long common wall. For approximately 17
months, she never saw Ms. Canada, “never heard people walking the length
of the hallway, never witnesses [sic] anyone coming or going from the
entryway, never heard a television, radio, alarm clocks or even people talking
in the adjacent apartment.” (Exhibit C at 2:1-8.) In December 2014, the smoke
detector went off in Ms. Canada’s apartment and continued beeping for six
weeks. (Exhibit C at 2:9-16.)

Geoffrey Pierce testified that he had lived at 668 Page Street since 2008. When
he moved into 668 Page Street he “would typically see Iris Canada 3-4 times
per week. Our interactions were always very cordial and I would regularly
help her retrieve mail from the landing just below ours. This type of common
interaction continued for approximately 4 years.” (Exhibit D at 2:1-6.) Things
changed in 2012. “Between the summer of 2012 and the beginning of 2015, I
only saw Iris Canada at the building two times, once in late 2014 when her
niece, Iris Merriouns, specifically brought her to the building and proceeded
to knock on my door to proclaim that Iris, ‘was in the building’.” (Exhibit D
at 2:7-14.) Mr. Pierce also testified:

Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada's and our
shared common wall, I used to hear typical residential sounds
coming from her unit, not limited to people walking the length
of the hallway, television, radio, alarm clocks and talking and I
would normally hear people coming to visit her approximately
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once a week. Between summer 2012 and the spring of 2015 I did
not hear any such sounds emanating from her residence.

(Exhibit D at 2:21-3:17.)

Christopher Beahn testified that he, his wife and their two children reside in
674 Page Street, directly above Ms. Canada’s unit. (Exhibit E at 1:23-26.) Mr.
Beahn stated:

Seeing Iris Canada several times per week was a normal part of
our lives. She popped her head out whenever someone would
come up the stairs, asking for, help getting her mail or just
chatting. She loved to pet our dog, and talk about her years
living in the building with her husband James. She would show
us his artwork and spoke about how he was a welder. Then in
July 2012, we were unable to get Iris to answer her door, and
were understandably concerned. We eventually discovered that
her niece Iris Merriouns had removed Iris Canada to Oakland
due to the state of the apartment. We did not see Iris Canada
again until late 2015.

(Exhibit E at 2:1-8.)

Mr. Beahn also listed other reasons why it was clear to him that Ms. Canada
moved out in 2012: “We never saw Iris Canada”; “There was no discernable
activity or sounds emanating from the unit”; “Aside from some hired cleaners
in July of 2012, we did not see anyone remove garbage or recycling from the
unit”; “The regular delivery of Meals on Wheels ceased”; “There was no
indication of regular mail service”; a “loud beeping noise . . . went on for
more than a month”; Ms. Canada no longer was heating her apartment; and
“packages or letters were left in front” of her door and “remained untouched
for weeks or even months at a time.” (Exhibit E at 2:13-3:14.)

Michel Bechirian testified that he lived at 678 Page since 2003. He said that
for about nine years he typically saw Ms. Canada “approximately 3-4 times
per week.” “Our interactions typically involved neighborly chitchat, asking
after her relatives and church friends, I would sometimes bring Iris fresh
produce from the farmer's market and Iris Canada would also share stories
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with me about her youth.” (Exhibit F at 2:1-8.) He stopped seeing her in
2012.2 (Exhibit F at 2:13-16.)

Alexander Apke testified that he lived at 676 Page since 2010. When he first
moved in he “would regularly see Iris Canada at least 3 times a week. She
opened the door to her unit 670 Page Street whenever someone opened the
building front door or when I walked down the stairs and past her unit. We
used to have conversations about the weather, recently visiting friends and
relatives, and her home. Particularly she liked talking about when she moved
from the top floor of the building down to 670 Page Street. I always helped
her bringing the mail from the mailboxes on the ground floor, up to her unit
on the first floor.” (Exhibit G at 2:1-8.) That stopped in late 2012 as did Ms.
Canada’s regular Meals on Wheels deliveries. (Exhibit G at 2:9-15.) (The
certified records of Meals on Wheels of San Francisco confirm this — showing
the Ms. Canada’s service was temporarily suspended on July 6, 2012 and then
permanently cancelled on October 2, 2012. [Exhibit H].) Mr. Apke also
testified that about five days before a staged press event showing Ms. Canada
supposedly watching television in her unit, a Comcast truck installed service
at 670 Page Street. (Exhibit G at 3:9-19.)

Peter Owens testified that when he traveled to San Francisco in late May 2014
to meet a building inspector at the apartment it was obvious no one had
resided in the unit for a very long time

First, the toilet bowl was bone dry, as all of the water from the
bowl had evaporated. The bathtub in the bathroom had mold in
it and also had obviously not been used for a very long time.
Rodent traps and roach traps lined most all of the walls of the
apartment and virtually all of the furniture was stacked up in the
center of the back rooms. It was patently obvious nobody had
used the furniture in a very long time. Additionally, the beds

2 Speakers accused Mr. Bechirian of duplicity for submitting a discretionary
review application in 2014 in which he asserted a proposed project would
interfere with light to Ms. Canada’s unit. At that time, Mr. Becharian knew Ms.
Canada had been absent from her unit for quite some time, but he did not learn
until later in 2014 that Ms. Canada has permanently relocated to her grand-
niece’s home in Oakland.
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were covered with bags of old clothes, evidencing that nobody
had used either the clothing or the beds in a very long time. The
refrigerator was completely empty except for about two-dozen
Dr. Pepper cans that I could not determine how long they had
been there. There was vermin excrement on top of all of tables
and all of the shelves in the kitchen, also evidencing that nobody
had been in the apartment for a very long time. Large piles of
trash blocked the back porch door, and there were rolls and rolls
of urine-soaked and feces- infested carpeting. The smell alone
was horrendous, further evidencing that nobody had lived in the
apartment for a very long time. The calendar in the kitchen
displayed the month “July 2012.”

(Exhibit I at 8:1-17 with attached photographs).

While it is abundantly clear that Ms Canada had not been residing in the unit
since 2012, some Commissioners questioned the applicants’ use of the word
“vacant” on the six-year occupancy history section of the application. While
it is true that Ms Canada’s furniture remained in the unit even after she
moved out in 2012, the application’s questions about occupancy do not relate
to whether there is furniture in the unit; they are concerned with whether a
person lives there. In this case, the application was prepared by an attorney
with decades of experience in condo conversion applications who followed
the standard DPW convention in preparation of the application: if the unit is
occupied, the occupant is named; if the unit is unoccupied the unit is
considered vacant. (Exhibit J.) As the court confirmed in its ruling, Ms.
Canada had not resided in the unit since 2012. (Exhibit K.)

In short, the people who actually live in these units, and who actually knew
Iris Canada, testified under oath that she stopped living there in 2012, and
only occasionally reappeared after this litigation in 2015 and 2016 for staged
press events. And this timeline aligns with the sworn testimony of Ms.
Canada’s grand-niece who testified that Ms. Canada had, in fact, been living
with her in Oakland, and was not capable of caring for herself at the Page
Street address.
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Iris Canada Was Not “Evicted”

Many opponents advanced the narrative that Iris Canada was a tenant
evicted by the applicants in 2017.3 But the verifiable facts show that in 2005,
Iris Canada (with the advice of her own attorney) converted her tenancy into
a deeded life estate in 670 Page Street. (Exhibits L and M.) As such, Ms.
Canada was an owner of, not a tenant residing in, 670 Page Street. The City
itself found this to be true in 2014 when it told the residents that they could
not convert the units from TICs to condominiums without Ms. Canada’s
signature because she was the owner of 670 Page Street. (Exhibit N and
Exhibit J.)

The San Francisco Superior Court did not order that Ms. Canada be evicted
from her unit. Rather, it found that her actions since 2012 resulted in the
termination of her life estate, and that the Deed of Trust was foreclosed upon.
(Exhibit K at 3:4-12.) Thus, Ms. Canada was the equivalent of a homeowner
who moved out of her home and failed to make mortgage payments,
resulting in a foreclosure by a lender. She was not a tenant, Mr. Owens was
not her landlord, she had not resided there for five years, and she was not
“evicted” in any legal or practical sense.

Iris Canada Had No Legal Representation

Speaker after speaker bemoaned the fact that the Superior Court entered a
judgment against Ms. Canada even though she was not represented by an
attorney. This is simply false. Iris Canada had no fewer than ten attorneys
representing her during this dispute: Steve Collier (who, among other things,
helped her negotiate the terms of the life estate), Tom Drohan, Robert
DeVries, Mary Catherine Wiederhold, David Larson, John Cooke, Mitchell
Abdallah, Michael Spalding, Steven MacDonald, and Dennis Zaragoza.
(Exhibit O at {3, 7 through 10, 18, 20, 22 and 32.) Four of these attorneys are
noted on the Superior Court’s records; i.e., the officially appeared in court on
Ms. Canada’s behalf. (Exhibit P.) Not only was she represented, but some of
her attorneys employed aggressive — even abusive — litigation tactics. They

3 The speakers and this Commission seem to treat all the applicants as one entity.
Please keep in mind there are 11 separate applicants, and none of them other
than Mr. Owens and his family members was a party to the litigation resulting in
termination of Ms. Canada’s life estate.
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defied court orders, sought to derail the litigation by filing papers not only in
San Francisco Superior Court but also federal district court and federal
bankruptcy court, and failed to comply with discovery obligations.

(Exhibit O.) On at least five separate occasions, the San Francisco Superior
Court imposed monetary sanctions on Ms. Canada’s attorneys (and Ms.
Merriouns) for their abusive conduct. (Exhibit K at I 13, 14, 16 and 20.)

Even After Winning the Court Case, Mr. Owens Offered to Allow Ms.
Canada to Resume Living at Page Street and to Waive His Award of
Attorneys’ Fees

Several speakers claimed that Mr. Owens demanded that Ms. Canada pay
over $100,000 in attorneys’ fees if she wanted to move back in to her Page
Street unit. This is directly contrary to the actual, verifiable facts.

At the conclusion of the litigation, the Superior Court ordered that Ms.
Canada was responsible to pay Mr. Owens $169,466.23 in attorneys’ fees he
incurred. (Exhibit Q.) When Ms. Canada sought to have the judgment set
aside, the Superior Court — not Mr. Owens - said it would set aside the
judgment if Ms. Canada paid Mr. Owens the $169,466.23.

But Mr. Owens never sought that money from Ms. Canada. To the contrary,
he repeatedly offered to let Ms. Canada move back to Page Street and forgive
the money she owed under the court’s order. This is extraordinary. After
months of litigation, being demonized in the press, and having to resign his
job as a result of this situation, Mr. Owens offered to let it all go. (Exhibit R
1114 through 20.)

For example, in court in April 2016, Mr. Owens offered to restore Ms.
Canada’s life estate and waive the court’s award of attorneys’ fees in
exchange for Ms. Canada cooperating in the condominium conversion
process. Ms. Canada’s attorneys advised her to agree to this generous offer,
but her grand-niece convinced her to turn it down. (Exhibit R, ] 34.)

On June 30, 2016, Mr. Owens wrote to Ms. Canada. I strongly encourage you
to read the letter, attached as Exhibit S, but here is the offer he made:
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10.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will forgive the $169,466.23
legal fees due to us per condition #1 of Court Order dated
April 27, 2016 and the related Order dated June 8, 2016.
Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will accept arrears payments
made to date as “payment in full” through May 2016 per
condition #2 of Court Order dated April 27, 2016.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will offer to strike condition #5
of Court Order dated April 27, 2016 and replace it with a
simple promise from Iris Canada and her family to keep us
apprised by email if Iris needs to or expects to be away from
her home for an extended period of time.

All of the rights and responsibilities contained in the entire
Deed of Trust, the Grant of Life Estate, the Promissory
Note, and the Order dated April 27, 2016 will remain in
effect, except as set forth by terms 1, 2 and 3 above.

Iris Canada will make herself available and execute all
required condo conversion documents for 668-678 Page
Street.

Iris Canada will cooperate as required for any and all
additional work related to the condo conversion process for
668-678 Page Street, which includes the code compliance
work and executing the follow-up declarations which must
completed approximately one year from now.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will guarantee Iris Canada that
she will have no financial obligations related the conversion
process.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen and the other building owners
will guarantee that Iris Canada is not waiving any rights by
signing the documents.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will work with Iris Canada and
her family to make any reasonable accommodation to help
Iris Canada age in place so long is it does not jeopardize
their ownership rights following the Iris Canada’s passing,
however Iris Canada remains precluded from permitting
any tenancies to be established at 670 Page Street.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen, Iris Canada and the other
building owners, will work in good faith to ensure a safe
and peaceful environment at 668-678 Page Street for all
residents, and especially for our elder Iris Canada.
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On August 9, 2016, Mr. Owens wrote to Ms. Canada’s grand-niece, Iris
Merriouns, making a similar offer:

Waiving all attorney’s fees

Accepting arrears payments

Waiving all conditions of judgment

Waiving all court ordered sanctions and penalties

Setting aside the judgment

Rights for a live-in caregiver

Improvements to the unit

Right of first refusal if unit is ever sold

Guarantee of no liability or waiving of rights from cooperation
Guarantee of no financial obligation from cooperation

(Exhibit T.)

But these offers were turned down, because Ms. Merriouns really wanted to
use this situation to strongarm Mr. Owens into a forced sale at a windfall
price. ¢ (Exhibit R, T137-39, Exhibit U and Exhibit V.)

In sum, Mr. Owens did everything reasonably within his power to let Ms.
Canada to live out her days at Page Street. All his efforts were rejected. Ms.
Merriouns likewise rejected all efforts the City put forward to assist Ms.
Canada: “[Supervisor] Breed addressed the eviction on Twitter, saying that
she had tried to help Canada for years, including offering housing options but
Canada and Merriouns were not interested in the services Breed had offered.”
(Exhibit V.)

The Applicants Ask to be Treated Like All Other Applicants
As your January 11, 2018, staff report acknowledges, this application “meets

the requirement for condominium conversion under the California State Map
Act and the San Francisco Subdivision Code.” No one has submitted any

4 Even though Mr. Owens had no interest in or obligation to sell the unit, as part
of a settlement offer he did offer Ms. Canada and Ms. Merriouns the right to
purchase after conversion — the same right a tenant would have had.
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evidence calling these conclusions into question. As such, the City has no
lawful basis for denying this application.

Two Comimissioners suggested that this application should be denied because
the Commission should only grant uncontested applications, or because
condominium conversions do not preserve or enhance the City’s supply of
affordable housing. Regarding the first point, all the owners of all the units
support this application. The opponents are not residents of the building or
neighbors. Will the Commission turn down any application if an anti-
condominium conversion activist appears before the Commission in
opposition to an application? Even when the opponent’s assertions are false?
If so, the City should make applicants aware of that City policy.

Regarding the second point, if the Commission turns down this application
because it is inconsistent with the Commission’s views on affordable housing,
will it turn down every conversion application? The legislation creating this
conversion process expressly balances the need for maintaining affordable
housing and strikes a balance under which conversions are permitted and
substantial fees assessed, in part to address affordability concerns.

(Exhibit W). This Commission does not have the authority to reject the
wisdom of the Board of Supervisors in striking this legislative balance.

The applicants simply ask that the Commission apply the same rules to this
application as it does to all the other conversion applications that come before
it. The emotional appeal of the opponents’ remarks is undeniably powerful.
But, when the Commission separates fact from fiction, it should conclude that
these applicants are entitled to convert their homes to condominiums.

Sincergl

G. ge

cc:  Members of the Planning Commission
David Weissglass
Jonas Ionin

Kate Stacy
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SUPERIOR COURT -- STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO
UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

-~000--

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,

Plaintiffs,

V8. NO. CGC-14-543437

IRIS CANADA, an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California

corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF
IRIS MERRIOQUNS

October 7, 2015

REPORTER: KYLE MCLEAN, CSR # 13787 JOB 17661
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Q0. I asked you why you stayed at 670 Page Street

b
2 last night, and you said “We decided to."
3 And I'm asking you who is the "we" that made
4 the decision that you were going to stay at 670 Page
5 Street last night?
6 A. My aunt and I.
7 0. And what was the discussion that you had that
B led you to the conclusion that you were going to stay at
9 670 Page Street last night?
10 A. Well, she had some things that she has to do to
11 her residence, and so we had an appointment there. And
| 12 so that's why we stayed there.
13 0. So she typically does not stay there?
14 A. We're back énd forth.
15 Q.. So wheﬁ you stay im 9969 Empire Road, your aunt
16 is with you?
17 A. Typically she's with me, and if she has an
18 appointment, she's over here and in San Francisco,
19 depending on who has the free time.
20 Q. Can she stay by herself?
21 A. I don't trust her to stay by herself,
22 especially at the Page Street address.
23 Q. 5o you don't feel comfortable leaving her at
24 the Page Street address alone?
25 A. My aunt suffered a stroke recently.

EXCEEDING YOUR EXPECTATIONS
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1 0. We're talking about Iris Canada?
2 A. Yes, we're talking about Iris Canada.
3 Q. SO‘she doesn't stay there by herself because
4 you don't feel comfortable that she can be there by
5 herself? |
6 A. She suffered a stroke.
7 Q. I'm not questioning about the reasons for it.
8 I'm just trying to get an understanding of whether or
9 not she is able to take care of herself.
10 Do you think she's able to take care of
11 herself?
fl12 A. I think that Iris Canada should not stay on her
| 13 own. She's 99 years old.
14 0. When was the last time that she was having an
15 evening by herself that you're aware of?
16 A. I don't leave her by herself ever.
17 Q. When did you start taking care of her?
18 A. Probably in 2014.
19 Q0. In 20147
20 A. Mm-hmm.
21 0. So at this point -- so you're telling me that
22 you don't feel comfortable that your aunt can stay by
23 herself and it's been at least that way since 2014.
24 And is it fair to say that every night,
25 wherever you are, she's with you?

%L EXCEXDING YOUR EXFECTATIONS
(ComBS REPORTING, INC,
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A. I have no idea.

Was it more than half?
A. I have no idea. September of when? Last year?
Q. Last month.

Oh, I'm sorry. We are in October.

o o -1 ;v e W N -
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0. How many months -~ how many days of September
would you say that your aunt stayed with you on Empire
Road?

A. She stayed with me most nights. Wherever I am,
she is. We were in L.A. in September. We were in -- we

traveled most of the weekend. 8o she's with me.
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Q. And why is she always with you?

A. Because she likes being with me.

Q. BAnd she can't take care of herself? Or you
don't, at least, feel comfortable with her taking care
of herself?

A. Since she suffered the stroke at the hands of
her neighbors, no, I don't feel comfortable with her in
670 Page Street alone, if that's your gquestion.

Q0. When did she have her stroke?

A. She had her stroke on May 8th that was induced
by pounding on the walls from her neighbors at 670 Page
Street, that reside and own units at 670 Page Street.

Q. BSo it's your opinion that her neighbors caused

her to have a stroke?

%’\ EXCREDING YOIt EXPECTATIONS
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Q. And she needs somebody with her in the

1

2 evenings, and she needs somebody with her during the

3 day?

4 A. I think it's -- since her stroke, yeah.

5 Q. And where does she spend the majority of her
6 days? |

7 A. She attends an adult daycare program.

8 0. And where is that at?

9 A. That's in Oakland.
10 Q. How does she get there?

i A.. Different ways. -Sometimes she's transported
12 through a service and sometimes I take her. Sometimes
13 another relative takes her.

14 Q. You take her in the morning or you take her
15 1like on your way to work?

16 A. She goes in the morning.
17 0. They have a shuttle that comes --

18 A. Sometimes she goes in the afternoon. Sometimes
19 they pick her up.

20 Q0. BAnd how many days a week would you say she does
21 that? Three or four or five?

22 A. Four.

23 Q. Four days a week?

24 Yeah.

25 Q. How many times a month? Most every week?

EXCEEDING YOUR EXFECTATIONS
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1 0. Most of the time?
2 A. She's usually with me.
3 0. And when she stays at the residence at éity
4 College, does she stay with you there?
5 A. No, I don't stay.
6 g. You don't stay there with her?
7 A. No. But she's with a relative.
8 Q. Where does she stay when you're at Marion's
9 house?
10 A. She's with me. That's why I'm there.
1% 0. No, no. I'm sorry.
12 Where does Iris Canada stay when you're at
13 Marion's house?
14 A. She's there.
15 0. BSo she will stay with you when you stay at
16 Marion's house?
17 A. Yes.,
18 0. 8o when was the last time that Iris Camada ever
19 stayed at 670 Page Street by herself?
20 A. She's not stayed at 670 Page Street by herself
21 for a while.
22 Q. A year?
23 A. When she's there, there are people there with
24 her.
25 0. So the only time that you're comfortable with

EXCIEDING YOUR EXPECTATIONS
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her staying at Page Street is when somebody is with her?

1
2 A, Yes.
3 Q. And the majority of the time she's with you,
4 and she's either staying on Empire Road or she's staying
5 with Marion by City College?
6 A. Or other relatives. Sometimes she's in L.A.
7 1If she's in L.A. -- she was with my Aunt Julia or with
8 my other aunt. When she was in Texas, she was with my
9 uncle.
10 Q. Who would you consider to be the person that
11 takes care of Iris Canada the most?
12 A. When she's in California, I would say it would
13 be me,
14 Q. You're the primary caregiver for her?
15 A. Yes. I would say since 2012, more since my mom |
16 died because, prior to that, it's my mom.
- B Q. Does anybody help you?
18 A. Right now?
19 Q. Yeah.
20 "A. It's very difficult.
21 Q0. Do you get any help from Marion?
22 A. Yeah, Marion helps me.
L 23 Q. How often does she help you?
24 A. When she can.
25 Q. What does she do? Does she watch her for a

EXCEEDING YOUR EXFECTATIONS
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your aunt spent the night at Page Street?
A. Last night.
Q. And excluding last night and Sunday?
A. Exact dates, I can't give you exact dates.
0. But it's before her stroke?
A. Yes.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Q. Prior to her having her stroke, were you still
taking care of her on a regular basis?

A. Pretty much.

10 Q. And that started around the summer of 2012?

11 A, No. In December of 2012 --

12 Q. Let's go back.

13 A, ~- 1 was --

14 | Q.v I'll withdraw the question. 1I'll ask the

15 question a different way.

16 You remember on -- around July of 2012 there
17 was an incident when your aunt had gone missing.

18 Somebody was concerned that she was missing.

19 A. Excuse me?

20 Q. That she was missing.

21 A. My aunt has never gone missing.

22 0. Somebody in the building was concerned that she
23 hadn't returned or she wasn't there.

24 A. Excuse me?

25 Q. Okay. What made you go over there that time in

@ EXCEEDING YOUR EXPECTATIONS

(CoMBs REPORTING, INC.

DEPOSITION REPORTERS » LEGALVIDEO




1 0. I'm going to show you a document.
2 Now, you're telling me you can't see this
3 because you don't have your glasses on?
4 A, I'm telling you that I can't read it because I
5 don't have my glasses on.
6 Q. From what you can make out, do you recognize
7 that? Have you ever seen anything that looks similar to
8 that before?
9 A. I cannot make this out, and I'm not going to
10 say that I've seen this because I can't make this out.
11 @. So it's youf testimony that the first time that
12 you ever learned that you had to appear at a deposition
13 was when we were in court and Judge Quidachay told you
14 that you needed to appear?
15 A. Yes. When I knew that I was subpoenaed ~-
16 Q. Very well. when -~ so you had indicated that
17 besides the health reasons that you go to L.A., which is
18 recently, within the past few months or so, I guess
19 since May, you spend half of your tiqe on Empire Road
20 and half of your time at the house -~ or at the
21 residence by City College; correct?
22 A. Yes.
23 Q. And when you stay at 9969 Empire Road, Iris
24 Canada stays with you?
25 A. Yes.

EXCEEDING YOUR EXPRCTATIONS
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794) ELECTRONICALLY

Mark B. Chemev (SBN 264946) . "FILED
ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC Supertor Court of Calffomia,
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 County of San Francisco
San Francisco, CA 94104 - 10/28/2016
Tel: 415.956.8100 Clerk of the Court
Fax: 415.288.9755. « BY:CAROL B&fﬁ; RemL
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual, DECLARATION OF ANNA MUNOZIN
STEP”?};};&%WENS’ an individual, SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS'
« = MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF

Vs, SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY

PENDING APPEAL AND OPPOSITION

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD TO STAY PENDING APPEAL
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California Date: L
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, T.ate.' Novemberl, 2016
T ime: 2:00 p.m.
Defendants. Dept.: 502

Judge: Hon. A, James Robertson, I

I, Anna Munoz, declare as follows:

1. Ihave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

|| testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. [ have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 6 years. My residence is located above 670
Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit. 676 Page Street is my full time and only residence,
2. T used to see Iris Canada about once a week, She would often open her door as I was

entering the building and she would explain to me that she thought people were ringing her

-




ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 AMONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
§aAN FrRANCISCE, CALIFORNIA 94104

W oo ~1 O B W N

et ek eend pueed bk e eed
G;:c\m&uwwo

doorbell. She often seemed worried and I would reassure her that it wasjust me entering the
building. One time, to my surprise, I saw her walking back up the stgirs towards her unit, That
time she also said she thought she heard someone ring the bell. Every time I saw her,i would
take the time to chat with her and make sure everything was okay.

3. A young lady, whom 1 was told was a relative of hers, used to come to the unit to
chéck up on her on a regular basis, I would see her about once a week or every other week as

she would always either park in 6: block my driveway. I would always have to ring the bell

‘and ask her to move her car so that I can get in or out of my garage. On those occasions, 1

would often see Iris Canada standing at her door waiting for the ycmng lady. The last ﬁme I
ever saw the young lady, was the time that we found a dead rat placed just outside of her door.
I Eéﬁeve that it became evident to the relative at the time that Iris Canada could no longer live
alone and take care of herself or her home. Soon after that is when Iris Canada stopped residing
in the apartment and [ haven’t seen the young lady since.

4. In the last 4 years, I have only seen Iris Canada when she would arrive at the -
building with Iris Merriouns. They would arrive, sﬁay for a few hours and then leave and not be

seen again for several months. I always knew when they were here because Iris Merriouns

MO N R N
gggw-&:wmt—-o

would park her car very near the building. This was either on the weekend or after working
ho@. One e%ample was the night Iris Canada was first served court papers. I witnessed them
arrive thét evening and then leave after Iris Canada was served with court documents, not to be
seen again for months. There was also the time when Peter Owens changed the lock to the unit
and had a copy made for Iris Canada, my neighbors offered her the key when they ax;rived but
Iris Merriouns flatly refused it saying “I’m not taking that, I don’t know what it is.” Iris

Merriouns then proceeded to change the locks, without providing Peter Owens a copy, and left

2




ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

O e =1 o i P W N

RN ERERRERNEBGES LR e~ o

with Iris Canadé that same evening and again not to return for a long time. There were times
when packages were lefl on her dour for very long periods of time, There was also the incident
where the smoke detcctor was sounding off inside her unit, something that continued around -
the clock for over a month.

In more recent times, namely this year (2016), I have scen less of lris Cﬁnada yet more
of Iris Merriouns with each time being around the Samc time that there would be a major cvent
such as a court hearing, namely a stay of execution or a public protést. Both would stay a
couple days leading up to the hearing and then leave after the hearirig ruled in their favor. Not
to be seen again for a long time. |

On May 31%, sometime after.‘ 6 pm, Abdoulla Yasef, her supposed “caretaker” came to
the building alone and smﬁehnw couldn’t get intn the unit hecause he misplaced his key. Peter
Owens, who was visiting at the time, ran into him and had a cordial conversation with him. At
the time, we were all in the Geoff Pierce’s apartment next door having an HOA meeting and
witnessed this. After Abdoulla and Peter chatted for a bit; Abdoulla left and returned sometime
after 10 pxﬁ with both Iris Canada and a ldcksmith. Up to this point, I recall not seeing Ir{s
Canada for a long time. In the span'of 2 —3 months that Mr. Yascf was her “caretaker”, this
was the only time I ever saw them together. I believe he was staying at the unit without Iris
Canada as I often wimessed him lf:ave early in the mor’ning’and return lisually after 6 pm. I no
longer see‘ Mr. Yasef.

On June 27", there was a three day protest at the building. While Iris Canada was
present during that time it appears that both Iris Merrio;xns‘ and Iris Canada had left sometime .
after it was over and [ believe they returned briefly for Iris Canada’s 100" birthday sometime

in mid July only to leave again shortly thereafter.

3-
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For five straight days, from‘September 8" — 12th, T saw the Sheriff’s posting for
repossession oftthe unit taped on the door of 670 Page. At around 9:05 pm on the evening of
September 12th, my husband and [ hear Iris Merriouns enter the building alone. She proceeded
to grab the mail as well as the Sheriff’s notice that was on the door. I had looked out the
window and saw Iris Merriouns walking back to her car that was parkcd on the comer of Page:

and Steiner next to a fire hydrant, which is about 100 feet from the building, She was alone and

Vcarrying a bunch of mail in her arms. At the same time my husband went downstairs and saw

the notice removed from the door. At exactly 9:33pm my husband leaves the building and
witnesses both Iris Merriouns and Iris Canada enter the building and walk up the flight of stairs
and into the unit. By 9:45pm, the SFFD had arrived and entered the buildihg. At around
10:15pm, I am looking out of my window éo see what was going ’on and witnessed the
paramedics take her out of the building in a chair and move her info.a gurney that was
stationed out on the sidewalk, With some assista;xce, Iris Canada wés able to get u.p from her
seat and into the gurney. She was attentive, -moving around and able to talk to both the
paramedics and‘ her niece. She appeared fine and in absolutely no emotional distress at all. This

was the first time I had seen her at the building since the June 27" protests.

N
(]

5, Based on my hgviﬁg lived at 676 Page Streét San Francisco CA 94117 for 6
years, and having observed the comings and goings, sounds, and general neighborly
observations on an almost daily basis, I am firmly convinced that 670 Page Street has not been
Iris Canada’s primary residence since approximately June 2012.

6. On June 27" and for two days following, there were protests at our building
organized by the Housing Rights Committee of San Francisco. On the first day people yelied at

us, flipped us off when we looked out the window and used a megaphone that was so loud we
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could hear it at the back of the houée. This was an attack specifically on the residents of the
building in an attempt to get us to persuade Peter to drbp the lawsuit. Peaple were projecting
hostility and anger towards us. ] even heard cne of the lead protesters who organized the event,
'ommi Avicolli Mecca, remind the crowd that they are not here to threaten us but to speak out
to the residents who could have some “influence” over the matter. Iris Merriouns was also a
part of the protests and spoke on the megaphone, According to Peter, she had lied to him and
lold hirm she was not a part of it. |

On the second day of the protest, my husbf;nd, baby and I leave as they are beginning to
assemble. As I exit the building, I asked Tommi Avicolli Mecca to stop hatassing us.
Immediately, an unknoWnAfrican—American lady starts shduting at me. I then turn to Tony
Robles, a staff ‘member of the Senior and Disability Action, aﬁd asked him if he was Mexican,
To me he appeared Mexican and since I am also Mexican I was hoping to find a common
ground to discuss the situation. He irﬁmediétcly denounced my heritage and said “You sure as

hell don’t Jook Mexican, you look white!” and proceeded to just taunt me. Because of the

| protests, 1 didn’t come home until late that evening. On the third and final day of the protests, [

didn’t come home at all.

On September 22™ we were literally ambushed with another protest in front‘of our

building. This one was much larger and much worse than the previous three day protest. There

were several people whoh had trespassed onto our roof and dropped a large red banner. My
husband told them to get off but they did not comply. Eventually my husband got on the roof
took it down and threw it over the building into our backyard. One protester jumped the fence
into our backyard and retrieved the barmef only to put it back up a third time. At one point Iﬁs

Merriouns, who was also a partvof the protest, came up to the third floor landing and said that

5-
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they would like their banner back. Some words were exchanged and then‘she. proceeded to yell
at me. A heated argument ensued between the both of us. [ asked her to le;ave and told her she
was trespassing. Tt wasn’t until I went hack into my apartment that she finally left. The
situation made my heart rﬁce and left me frantic, scared and in tears. I’ve been aﬁ emotional
wreck ever since the most recent protests and will most likely need to seek some form of
therapy to get past this. My trauma has gotten to the point where even some of my coworkers
have noticed smhething is wrong. I now feel very threatened by Iris Merriouns and the hostility
that she is creating.

8. As a result of the continued legal proceedings and the harassment that has been
directed at us [ have been experiencing a great deal*of emotional trauma. It has affected my
mental health and that of my family. I have been experiencing depression, stress and anxicty. [
am currently on edge and living in fear that something dangerous will happen. Iris Merriouns
has been hostile to all of us. In May.of 2015, she was hpstile towards me whén I asked her to
move her car out of my driveway, she refused to move and sat there and argued with me. She
has also given me dirty, threatening looks every time she sees see me, she has been hostile

toward my neighbors and now we have to endure the hostility that is coming from protestors in

SCTI ORI . S N SR NG T X
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front of our building. With the most recent protest, the situation has escalated into something
dangerous. I fear that something far worse will happen. I fear for the safety of r.nyself, my
family and our property. |

9. The inability to condo convert as a result of any ongoing litigation could potentially
put financial stress on me and my family. We may very well run out of time in the condo
conversion process should the litigations continue. Once the deadlines airiVe, a moratorium

will set in and we will never again be able to convert. Additionally, banks only offer

-6
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Adjustable Rate Mortgages at higher interest rates than Fixed 30 yr loans. Those interest rates
could go up at any time, making our mortgage even more expensive. Condo conversion has'

always been for the desire to save money. San Francisco is an expensive city to live in, made

‘even more cxpensive when one is trying to raisc a child,

Since the last protesf that occméd on September 22", T have witniessed thal my neighbor’s, as
well as another unknown person’s, vghicle has been vandalized. I believe this is a direct result
of the hustility {hut has heen _increasingly generated byythe previous protest.; and the ongoing
and unresolved litigation. I beliéve that my building and all who reside there are being
maliciously targeted.

10. - On the early morning of September 23, at around 6 am and less than 24 hours
since the last protest, an unknown person(s) broke into my neighbor Geoff Pierce’s car and
stole the remote to our garage. G.eoff Pierce and [ share the garage, We have evidence of this
via a Smart Home dev‘ice that is installed on the garaée door that logs whefl the garage dc;or
opens as well as a ‘videc camera. The video camera filmed two individuals enter tﬁc garage at
two sepérate times early that morning. |

11.  OnOctober 1*, a vehicle parked in front of my building and partially in my
driveway was also vandalized. The back winddw was [illy broken and I could see all the glass
on the ground. I am not aware of who the vehicle belongs to. This vehicle was a black SUV
and could have easily been mistaken for a vehicle belonging to a res‘ident in the building,
namely my neighbor, Jamie Pierce who also drives a black SUV type car,

12.  About a week later (exact date unknown), my neighb;)r Jamie Pierce’s car
window was broken whén she was parked in a spot adjacent to my neighbor’s driveway. This

happened late at night. I believe that her car was targeted because it’s been previously
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identified as belonging to a building residént. Jamie normally parks in front of the driveway
when not in the garage. Jamie and (feoff are no ldnger ahle to pa‘rk their cars overnight in the
driveway as it is no longer safe to do so.

13.  Tnthe 6 years that I\Ixave,lived at 676 Page Street, we have never experienced
this amount of vandalism in such a short amount of time. To my knowledge, never have our
cars been vandalized and never have | felt unsate. | ﬁ.rmly.lbelicve that this is far more than just
a coincidence. |

14, My pre\'/ious fears that something would happen to our property has corﬁe to be
realize;d. We havg suffered a great deal as a result of the continuous stays and I believe tha‘r‘we

will continue to suffer if this issue continues unresolved. My quality of life has diminished as a

| result of the increased hostility, with the protests and vandalism, that has been projected onto

the building residents, I believe that if the sitnation continues unresolved, we will continue to
suffer as a result and that the suffering will only get worse, I no longer enjoy the peace and
tranquility of my own home that I once did. My home is supposed ta be my sanctuary and that

has been violated. I live day-to-day waiting for the next hostile protest or break-in to occur.

18
19 1 declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the
20 || foregoing is true aﬁd correct, |
4 21 1 declare under penalfy of perjury of the laws of the State of California fhat the
;; foregoing is true and correct,
24 DATED: October% 2016
25 : :
26
27
28

FAX SIGNATURE
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288,9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L, Owens

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY O¥ SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN 1., OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

VS,
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Time: 2:00 p.m.,
N Dept.: 502
Defendants. Judge: Hon. James A. Robertson I
I, JAMIE ANNE PIERCE, declare as follows:
1. I have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.
2. 1 have lived at 668 Page Street, San Francisco, California with my husband,
(Geoffrey Raymond Pierce) on a full time basis since July, 2014, Our residence

is located directly adjacent to 670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit,

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

~ Superfor Court of Calffornita,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATTON OF JAMIE ANNE
PIERCE IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING|
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
PENDING APPEAL

Date: November 1,2016
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Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada’s I would have expected to
meet, be introduced to or even to hear our next door neighbor at some point. IIowéver it was
approximately 17 months before I even saw Iris Canada or her neice, Iris Merriouns at the
property, sometime in December 2014, In fact during that first year and half of living here at
668 Page Street I never heard people walking the length of the hallway, never witnesses -
anyone coming or going from the entryway, never heard a felevision, radio, alarm clocks or
even people talking in the adjacent apartment.

Thé most glaring cxample of Iris Canada’s not being present at the building occurred
on 12/13/14, my husband and T began hearing a shrill smoke detector signal coming from her
apartment. That piercing sound could be heard through my walls so on [2/15/14 my hxléband
kindly left a note on her door asking Iris to changc out the battery on her ‘smokc detector. The
alarm went off every minute of every day and was so loud that it would wake me up or
conversély, keep me from sleeping at all. The alarm remained on for appr'oximately 6 weeks.
’I‘he’ sound Was not something that someone living in the unit could have tolerated.

Additionally T was present on the evening of 1/31/15 when the locks were legally
changed by Petéy Owens aﬁd subsequently illegally changed by Iris Mefriouns later that
evening. At the end of that evening Iris Merriouns became very agitated and confrontational.
She yelled at all of the owners bf the building and proceeded to call the police, At one point
she even yelled directly at my husband, she was very intimidating and aggressive in her attacks
on everyone present,

Since the beginning of 2015 I have only seen Iris Canada at the building on a handful of

occasions, for brief periods of time, usually not lasting more than 24 hours. Many of those

-
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sightings coincided with court case related news appearances or hqusing'activist protests in heri
honor, | |

Based on my having lived at 668 Page Street for 2 and half years, and observing the
comings and goings, sounds, and general neighbor.ly observations, I am firmly convinced that
Iris Canada has not resided at 670 Page Street since I have lived here,

While the inability of the buiiding to condo convert is certainly affecting my husbaﬁd’s
ability to provide ﬁnancial security for our family, the mental angulsh and stress that Lris
Mcfriouns has placed upon me personally are significant and should not go unreported,

On more than one occasion I have been yelled at, derided or intimidated by Tris
Merriouns directly. Additionally, on multiple occasions over thé past several months Iris
Merriouns has organized lai'ge scale protésts at our building; at one such protest one o[ her
supporters shouted at me and boo’d at me as T entered the building. As well T have been hissed
at by groups of pedple as I entered and exited the building on multiple occasions; Iris
Merriouns has left the front door open to the rest of the building open dﬁriﬁg these events, It is
appa;'ent that the protesters that attend these rally’s are not interested in the facts of the case ’it
is therefore easy to understand why this type of “protest” makes be feel VERY unsafe in my
home. |

Approximately one month ago there was a prétest of approximately 150 people at 8am
right in front of the building. People were yelling at the apartment iauilding and T couldn’t even
walk in front of our windows without being shouted at, The “protestors” then proceeded to
scale the adjacent construction 'site so that they could trespass on oﬁr rooftop and hang a banner
regarding their cause. I started to have a panic attack and call my husband to have him return

from work so that he could escort me out of the building. I was genuinely afraid there might be
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B, Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M, Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

Superfor Court of Califormnia,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CARCL BALISTRERI

Deputy Cleri

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO =~ UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

vs.

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants,

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF GEOFFREY :
RAYMOND PIERCE IN SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM OF
POINTS AND AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT
OF SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR
STAY PENDING APPEAL AND

OPPOSITION TO STAY PENDING
APPEAL

Date:

Time:
Dept.:
Judge:

November 1, 2016
2:00 p.n.
502

Hon. James A. Robertson, II

I, GEOFFREY RAYMOND PIERCE, declare as follows:

1. Ihave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2. -Thave lived at 668 Page Street, San Francisco, California on a full time basis for

approximately 8 years. My residence is located directly adjacent to 670 Page

Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit.

-1-
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Iris Canada’s and I share an approximately 80 foot long comimon wall that stretches the
entire length of our unit. Upon moving to 668 Page Street I would typically see Iris Canada 3-4
times per week. Our interaclions were always very cordial and 1 would regularly help her
retrieve mail from the landing just below ours. This type of common interaction continued for
apprbximatély 4 years. |

Beginning in the summer 0f2012 I stopped seeing Iris Canada on a regular
basis. Between the summer of 2012 and the beginning of 2015, I only saw Iris Canada at the
building two times, once in late 2014 when her niece, Iris Merriouns, specifically brought her
to the building and éroceeded to knock on my door to proclaim that Iris, “was in the
building”. Additionally I saw Iris Canada at the beginning 0f 2015, on 1/31/15, when both she
and her niece came here to illegally change the locks on Peter Owen’s unit without giving him
proper notiﬁc;ation. |

Since the summer 0f 2012 it seems that Iris Canada’s mail has been redirected because
I have not seen her collect it since then, Several times over the past four years there have been
packages delivered to her doorstep which have remaincd undistufbed and uncollected,

sometimes for a period of several months, Many times during the course of this trial,
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subpoenas from this court proceeding would sit uncollected foi' weeks at a ti‘me,

Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada’s and our shared commor; wall,
I used to hear tyfaical residential sounds coming from her unit, not limited to people walking
the length ofthe hallway, television, radio, alarm clocks aﬁd talking and I would normally hear
people coming to visit her approximately once a week. Between summer 2012 and the spring

0f2015 I did not hear any such sounds emanating from her residence.
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The most glaring exa;txple of Iris Canada’s absence from the building occurred on
12/13/14, On that day, my wife and I began hearing a shrill “low-battery” smoke det.ector
signz‘ﬂ coming from her apartment, That very high-pitched and annoying souﬁd could easily be
heard through my walls so on 12/15/141 left a note on the door kindly asking Iris to change out.
the battery on her smoke detector or to let me know if she needed help to do so. The alarm
went off each and every minute ofevery‘day and every night and was so loud from my
apartment that it would sometimes wake me up from a sound slesp or conversely, keep me
from sleeping at all. The alarm remained on until 1/21/15 (approximately 6 weeks after first
hearing it), By my calbulations the alarm went off over 60,000 times and was not something
that someone living in the unit could have tolerated. The note that I had left on the door |
remained thers for the enlire six weeks that the alarm was going off. 1 have photo
documentation of'the letter that I left on the front door and the fact that it was still in the exact
same position almost 6 weels later (a couple of days prior to 1/21/15, when the alarm battery
was [inally replaced).

Additionally T was present on the evening of 1/31/15 when th;: locks were legally
changed by Peter Owens and subsequently illegally cha.n'ged by Iris Merriouns later that
evening. In order to give access to the back door for Peter’s locksmith, I entered the unit for a
total of two minutes and was able to observe mold érowing in the bathtub and a toilet in which
the water had completely evaporated from the bowl, the stench of sewer gases coming from the
dry p-trap was not pleasant, nor livable, At 9pm that evening, Iris Canada was brought to the
building by Iris Merriouns. When I met Iris Canada and Iris Merriouns outside of 670 Page,
Iris Merriouns became very agitated and confrontational. She yelled at all of the owners of the

building and proceeded to call the police.

3-
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Since the beginning of 2015 I have seen Iris Canada at the building on a handful of
occasions, for brief periods of time, usually nof lasting more than 24 hours. Many of those
sightings coincided with court case related news appenrances or housing activist protests m her
honoxj. |

Since the spring of 20135, there has been a concerted effort on the pért of Iris Merriouns
to clean up the apartment and mgke it look habitable including the arrival of a large cleaning
crew that entered the apartment Lo clear out junk and debris. Comeast cable was reinstalled at
the unit just a few days prior to Iris Canada’s ﬁrsf television appearance. I have witnessed Iris
Merriouns sneak into the building past midnight to retrieve mail which was recently redirected
hack to 670 Page Street, presumably in an attémpt to re~establish the appearance of residency.
In the past six months Iris Canada’s visits to the building have become more frequent but
usually coincide with a media interview, lawyer visiting her at her “home”, protests being
staged in her honor or an impending or just concluded court hearing, Her visits are very brief
and upon dcpvartu're it is usually several weeks before she next returns.

Based on my having lived at 668 Page Street for 8 years, and observing the comings

and goings, sounds, and general neighborly observations, | am firmly convinced that Iris

ORI CRS RN S
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Canada has not resided at 670 Page Street sfnce the summer of2012,

The fact that our building has not been éble to condo convert has, by my estimation,
cost me in excess of $12,000 in higher mortgage payments which could have been lowered had
Iris Canada agreéd to sign the condo conversion paperwork when it was first requested cvér
two years ago. By delaying the condo conversion further I have additional financial burdens
that could be induced by rising interest rates, diminished value of my home if 1 need to sell for

any reason until this matter is resolved and the real possibility that the current condo

A
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donversfon process may be suspended at which point my unit will NEVER be able to convert
since we are a 6-unit building which will not be eligible for conversion after the current
process s suspended. Ifthis becomes a reality and my unit does not éondo convert I will be
forced to accept having a var;able rate mortgage for the rést nfthe timp T own the unit which
could very Ws\l affect my financial stability, force me to sell my unit and potentially leave Saﬁ
Francisco altogether, The longer these proceedings take to resolve, the larger‘and moreﬂ”real
these financial burdens become. . |

More importantly though, and the reason that VI am taking the time to write this
declaration, is the fact that this litigation process has placed undue stress upon my family.
While there have been very tangible events like the time Iris Canada’s [iry alarm was going off
for 6 weeks and we could not slcep duc to the distﬁrbancc, there has also been much more
severe emotional distress caused directly by Iris Merriouns and this litigation. On one such
occasion, Iris Merriouns and I passed each other in the maln entryway to the building; she
purpoéefully stepped into my path of travel, pointed in ;ny faco and said in a menacing tone,
“You ain’t seen NOTHING yet!” I felt very threatened by her presence and her tone of voice.

Additionally, on multiple occasions ovef the past several months Iris Merriouns has
organized large scale protests at our building; at one such protest one of her supporters shouted
at me, “I hopé you die and go to helll” As well I have been hiésed at by groups of people and
booed as I entered and exited the building on multiple occasions, the protestors have even
shouted at my wife and I while we were in our living room, to the point where we left the
building altogether. The protesters that attend these rally’s are not interested in the facts of the
case, they are driven by emotional sentiment amplified by Iris Merriot_ms’ lies associated with

the circumstances of the case and in most cases are very angry individuals,
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Approximatcly onc month ago there was a protest ol approximately 150 people at 8am
right in front of the building. My wife cailed me at work; she was in a panic and stated that
people had scaled the édjacent construction site so that they coﬁld trespass on our rc;oﬁop and
hang a banner regarding their cause. She was scared to leave the housc due to the fact that she
thought strangers might be in the building and she requested that T return home from work (I
had leﬁ: early that morning) to escort her to her car, I hadvto leave work to do just that,
something that I should never have had to do if it weren’t for Iris Merriouns staging these
angry prptests. To see my wife in a state of panic was unsettling and e‘nﬁrely unnecessary.

Tronically, that same niéht, my car was broken into right outside of our home., While I
have no evidencé to prove that any of the mor'nings’ protestors were invo}ved in the break-in, it
is a curious 'coincidenca that very well may be due to the fact that 150 angry people were
outside my home that momi:;g. Needless to say the recent escalation oftension associated with
these protests the have left me and my wife feeling very uncomfortable, unsafe and nervous
within the confines of our own home,

In the span of one month since the protest was held, three cars have been broken into

while parked in front of our building, a highly unusual rate of break-ins for our neighborhood.

[y
<

While it may simply be coincidence, it is ppssible that someone may have targeted our building
because of the animosity generated at the protests. |

T hereby implore the court to take action on this matter, The facts of the case have not
changed, Iris Canada does not reside at 670 Page Sfreet and she failed to maintain the unit in a
habitable condition. Despite countless reasonable attempts to restore Iris Canada’s life estate
by Peter Owens, no agreement could be reached and the court ordered legal fees have not béen

remanded to Peter Owens, the rightful owner of the unit. Iris Merriouns has recently escalated

e
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DATED: Octabér 258, 2016
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794) ELECTRONICALLY

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946) FILED
ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC Superior Court of California,
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 County of San Francisco
San Francisco, CA 94104 10/28/2016
Tel: 415,956.8100 c‘:\:'-'éa?zfm B:&ﬁgsrgl
Fax: 415.288,9755 Deputy Clerk

Attorneys for Plaintiffs,
Peter M, Owens
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual, ‘

STEPHEN L. OWENS, un individual, DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER
Plaimifis BEAHN IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING

Vs, , : BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
, | APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD PENDING APPEAL
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California )
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Date: - November 1,2016
, Time: 2:00 p.m.

Dept.: 502
Defendants. A | Judge: Hon. James A. Robertson, I

I, Christopher Beahn, declare as follows:

1. Ihave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would
testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. Along with my wife, and our 2 children, I live at
674 Page Street, San Francisco, Califomﬁa. I'have been residing at that address on a full time
basis for approximately 8 years. My residence is located directly abové 670 Page Street, which

was Iris Canada’s unit. 674 Page Street is my full time and only residence.
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2. Seeing Iris Canada several times per week was a normal part of our lives, She
popped her head out whenever someone would come up the stairs, asking for-help getting her
mail or just chatting. She loved to pet our dog, and talk about her years living in the building
with her husband James. She would show us his artwork and spokec about how he was a welder.
Then In July 2012, we were unable to get Iris to answer her door, and were understandably
concerned. We cventually discovered that her nicce Iris Merriéuns had removed Iris Canada to

{
Oakland due to the state of the apartment, We did not see Iris Canada ugain until late 2015.

3. The following are some examples of why we believe 670 Page Street was
unoccupied completely between July 2012 and late 2015. These are also why we believe Iris |
Canada still does not reside in 670 Page Street.

4, We never saw Iris Canada, 'I“hcrc was no discernable actiyity or sounds
emanating from the unit. Aside from some hired cleaners in Juiy 0f 2012, we did not see
anyone remove garbage or recycling from the unit, The regular delivery of Meals on Wheels
ceased, There wds no indication ol regular mail service,

5. In December 2015, a loud beeping .consistent with a smoke detector low battery -

alert began sounding from 670 Page. It was clearly audible Withil; the common stairwell and

[\
[

within our own unit. This noise went onv for more than a month before someone stopped by the
unit and fixed the issue.

6. We have a dog who requires multiple walks per day. So every night for the last
8 years 1 have taken him out after 9:00 PM for his final walk. For the ﬁrst several years, we
would always hear the tv and see thé flicker of its lights in Iris Canada’s living room windows,
Then in July 2012, it became clear that the tv was no longer béing turned on, and that the lights |

in the unit never changed. The same lights were on for months at a time, with no adjustment or




ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUTITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

W e =3 Oy W R W

. O S I T T e R S e S v B e e ey
M NERERERRBNREREB8E 3G E N~ o0

change. If a light would go out, it would be out for months, presumably until a lightbulb was
changed, and then would come back on. |

7. As many seniors are apt to do, Iris Canada’s heat was always on, So much so,
that we barely used our éwﬁ furnace for the first 4 years we lived in the building. This was
apparent due to the heat rising into our unit through the floors, as well as the furnace clearly‘
being on in the shared garage space where they are housed. The furnace and blowet wete
constantly running and clearly audible, and the temperature in the garage was constantly quite
warm. After July 2012, it became clear that the heat within 670 was no longer on. Our own
apartment returned to a normal teniperature, as did the garage, I noted the furnace was clearly
no longer running when;aver I was in the garage.

8, ‘ On several occasions, packages or letters were left ﬂl front of the door o[ 670
Page, These remained untouched for weeks or even months at a time.

9, When we did begin to see Iris Canada again starting in late 2015, it was only a
handful of occasions when she would be brought to the building by her niece Iris Merriouns.
These seemed to coincide with a reporter or camera crew coming to the apartment, and did not
last more than a few hours. In 2016 Iris Canada began returning for overnight stays, although
these also seemed to coincide with media events or protests outside of the building. She never
stayed more than a night or two, excepting one point when she seemed to have a live-in
caregivef in March. This did not 'last long, and soon the apartment was again inactive, Within
the last few weeks, Iris has been in the apartment more often,

10.  We know when Iris Canada is in the building due to either seeing her or her
caregivers (usually Iris Merriouns), noting the tv/lights changing when we pass the apartment,

hearing and feeling her furnace being on, and by the smell of cigarette smoke in our apartment.

3.
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The cigarette smoke is particularly strong, and is of concern for our children. (Note: I assume
the cigarette smoke is coming from a caregiver, since we never saw or smelled smoke from Iris
Canada when she did live in the building)

‘11, Based on my having lived at 674 Page Street for 8 years, and having observed
the comings and goings, sounds, ;Jse of the furnace, lack of changes in lighting and general
neighborly observations on an almost daily basis, T am firmly convinced that Iris Canada has
not resided at her residence with any consistency since approximately July 2012.

12, Siﬁcu {he end 02015, the court cuse belween Péler Owens el al, und Iris
Canada has resulted in a toxic environment at the building, espebialiy when Iris Merriouns has
heen bresent, (On several occasions the police have been called, and there seem to be constant
verbal altercations hetween Tris Merriouns and various owners in the building, On a recent
occasion (September 22, 2016) when a protest was going on outside the building, 1 clearly
heard Iris Merriouns and Anna Apke (676 Page) screaming at each other. Anna Apke was
saying, “What did I ever due to you? This is harassment!” Iris Merriouns replied with a string
of expletives. Anna was home with their 3 year-old daughter and several protestors had

somehow gained access to our building and were right above her apartment on the roof.

13.  On September 12, 2016, I encountered Iris Merriouns bringing her great aunt,
Iris Canada, up the stairs into the building, The apartment had been empty since af least the
previous Wednesday, September 7, which we know because there was a posting from the
sheviff that had to be rembved in order to open the door to the apartment. A very short time
later paramedics arrived and took Iris Canada to the hospital.

14, All of these have led to a caustic environment, and have resulted in a great deal

of undue anxiety on the part of my wife and myself, During protests, my wife and I have
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driven away from our home rather than have our children walk through the throngs of
protestors. My wife dreads walking into the building in fear of a confrontation with Iris
Canada’s famiiy, and has been under considerable stress from the whole situation.

15,  Our ncighbor’s car has been broken into twice in Scptcm.bcr 2016 whilc being
parked in front of our building, Another similar looidng car was brofcen into in front of our
building during this same period. Although vehicle crimes are not rare in our neighborhood, 3
in the exact same location and in the short span of a few v;/eeks, certainly seems excessive.
There were no other nearby cars similarly vandalized. During the protest on September 22,
2016, several protestors clhnbéd onto the roof of our building; We have questioned'our safety
within the unit, have installed alarms on our windows and have proposed security cameras for
the building,

16, Ttis worth noting that during all of this, we have been patiently waiting almost 2 |
years for the court case to run its course. We have bcen open to resolving this amicably. We
have reached out to otr city Supervisor, London Breed, on multiple occasions to ask for
assistance in mediating some type of resolution. We have hosted a representative from her
ofﬁce, and basically been told that there is little fhey could do. We have let Pet;ar Owens know
that we were willing to accept modifications to the life estate, if it resolves the issue. He
attempted to negotiate a compromise, but has been led on and then rebuffed again and again by
Iris Canada on the advice of her family.

17.  Atthis point, T have no hope that this issue will be settled. Instead, the
continued delays seem to invite increasingly aggressive protests and actions by Iris Canada’s

supporters and family, and deepen our own concerns regarding our safety and the likelihood of

5.




28

1 further criminal activity, Further, dragging out a resotution appears to be having negative
2 |{ affects on Iris Canada’s health, as is evidenced by her recent hospitalization,
3 I declare under benalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the
4 foregoing is true and correct,
5
v
6 || DATED: October_24 , 2016 ‘ % ﬂ\/
8 Christopher Bealm
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ELECTRONICALLY
ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C. ‘ FILED
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 Superior Court of Californ
Sall1 Fra‘?cisco, C.? 94104 . 'éﬁ.,,,?yrofos.n Franclsco
Tel:  415.956.8100 : ‘

. ' 10/05/2015
Fax: 415.288.9755 : ' CIe{k of tlhe Court
) BY:ROMY RISK

Attorneys for Plaintiffs ‘ Deputy Clerk

Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
AROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,
gTé{PHESI{\INLAOWENS an ii?iilgidlsgl * AMENDED DECLARATION OF
: ’ : MICHEL BECHIRIAN IN SUPPORT OF
o AMENDED MOTION FOR SUMMARY
Plaintiffs, JUDGMENT OR IN THE
ALTERNATIVE SUMMARY

vs. . ADJUDICATION A

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD Date:  Dccember 22, 2015

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California Time: - 9:30 am.

corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Rii]zgte ﬁ%}l Ronald E. Quidachay

Defendants. Action Filed: December 30, 2014
,; Trial Date:  January 25, 2016

I, Michel Bechirian, declare as follows:

1. I am an individual over‘ the age of 18. I have personal knowledge of the
following facts discussed below and would testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2, I have lived at 678 Page Street, San Francisco, California on a full time basis for
approximately 12 years. My residence is located two floors directly above to 670 Page Street,

which is Iris Canada’s unit. 678 Page Street is my full time and only residence.

o1«
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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3. When [ first moved to 678 Page Street I would typically see Iris Canada
approximately 3-4 times per week on a regular basis. This continued for approximately 9
years. Our interactions typically involved neighborly chitchat, asking after her relatives and
church friends, I would sometimes briﬁg Iris fresh produce from the farmerfs rﬁarket and Iris
Canada would also share stories with me about her youth. During the first few years of our
interaction, I would see Iris Canada Venmring out With elderly (relatives, typicauy to church on
Sundays.

4. Over the 9 years that I have known Iris Canada, I have been invited and entex_'ed
her apartment on numerous occasions, typically to help her with small jobs, such as changing

light bulbs and smoke detector batteries.

5. Beginning in the summer of 2012 I stopped seeing Iris Canada on a regular

basis. The last time I recall seeing Iris Canada living at her apartment was approximately June

2012. Since that time I have only seen Iris Canada at the building on two occasions, once in
late 2014 and another time on January 31, 2015. On both occasions Iris was accompanied by |
someone I now know to be a relative. On the first occasion the relative, her niece, opened the
door to Iris’s apartment and both went inside for a short time before leaving together. The
niece closed and locked the apartment door, I triéd to talk with Iris — to ask after her health and
well-being, but was discouraged by the niece. Between the first time I saw Iris Canada and the

niece together and the second time, the locks on unit 670 were changed. This became apparent

when a San Francisco city electrical inspector could not be given access to the apartment using

the original emergency access key. As a result the owner Peter Owens notified Iris the locks
would be changed back to allow for emergency access. The second time I saw Iris Canada, the

niece opened the street door and attempted to open the door to Iris apartment. When the niece

-
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN

J——



O 0 1 O W oA W N e

[ S e S S T
thh B W N - S

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C.
&

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCQ, CALIFORNIA 94104
NN N RN N = e

[\
[»]

realized the locks had been changed back she called the police. The police instruqted the niece |
not to interfere with the new locks. After the police left the premises the niece called a
locksmith and had the locks changed again. For several hours Iris Canada was sitting in the
niece’s car onl a cold night. At some point later that night, Iris Canada was observed being
served court papers. Besides these two recent episodes, I have not seen Iris Canada at the
building or 670 Page Street since the summer of 2012.

6. During the time since I first moved into 678 Page Street I'would see where Iris
Canada’s mail was delivered on a regular basis, Iris Canada would often listen for the building
front door to open, or at least that is what I suspected. Iris Canada would then open her
apartment door and when she saw me we would make small chat for a féw minutes. I would
often ask her if she wouid ﬁke me to collect her mail for her BecauSe the stairs gave her
difficulty. Since the summer of 2012 1 believe that her mail has been redirected. On at least
two or three separate occasions I have seen packages from a medical delivery company remain
on her doorstep for months before they were removed. - |

7. For sevéral years before 2012 San Francisco Social Services would deliver
prepared meals for Iris Canada (her gas stove had been discontinued earlier due to safety
concerns). Meal packages WOuld be delivered to her door. Sometimes these would remain on
Iris’s doorstep until the late evemng when she would retrieve them. Iris would routmely leave
the remaining food packages on her doorstep for pick-up by Social Services. Shortly after June
2012 the food service stopped. I can only imagine someone contacted the city to suspend or
stop the service.

8. On a regular basis I would see the light of Iris Canada’s living room turn on

around dusk. Since approximately June 2012 I have not seen the lights switch on or off at Iris

-3~
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Canada’s residence. After I saw Iris in January 2015 the hall light, and a light‘ in a bedroom has
remained on. The lights are not switched off at daylight or switched on at dusk,

9, During my time living at 678 Page Street | would hear typical residential sounds
coming from Iris Canada’s residence, not limited to television, radio, alarm clocks, and talking,
on a regular basis. I would normally hear the radio and television daily and would also hear
the telephone ring. I have not heard any soundé coming from the residence since June 2012
that would evidence that Iris Canada, o‘r anyone else, was present or living at her residence.

10. -The furnace for 670 Page Street, Iris Canada’s residence is located in a shared
garage in our building. Iris Canada’ furnace would typically and constantly cycle on and off,
as furnaces are designed to do. I have not observed or seen any evidence that Iris Canada’s
furnace has cycled on in over 2 yeats.

11. I first realized I had not seen Iris Canada for some time in June 2012. Because |
would typically see her on a daily basis, after a few déys of not seeing her, I became concerned
for ixer weli being and asked my neighbors if they had seen her, to which none had. | discussed
my concerns in greater detail with one neighbor, Chris Beahn, and we agreed that based on our
shared concerns for her health and well being, we should check on her, and if necessary, enter
her apartment to perform a check on welfare by using the emergency keys, which we have for
such situations. Repeatedly over the course of several hours, Chris Beahn and I knocked on

the front door, used the door buzzer and called out to Iris. When it was apparent Iris was not in

| the apartment or unable to respond we opened the door using the emergency key and before

entering first announced ourselves as Michel and Chris her neighbors. When there was no

response and we could not hear any movement, Chris and I entered the unit. On entering the

4
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apa;'tment we saw rotting food, trash, roaches, and both dead and dying vermin caught in traps.
There was no sign of Iris Canada.

12, In mid-July of 2012 relatives of Iris Canada arranged for exterminators to come
to the apartment and address the infestation. Cleaners were hfred to deal with the trash, and
multiple refuse sacks were filled and removed from the apartment. IAhave no knowledge of Iris
Canada returning to the residence since that time.

13.  The gas to the stove in Iris Canada’s apartment was disconnected several years
ago because of the fire hazard presented by the conﬁnued vacancy at the apartment.

14. " Approximately December 15, 2014 I began hearing a low battery smoke
detector signal ringing, which I was able to determine was coming from Iris Canada’s
apartment. That’ signal went on for approximately five weeks. At no pbint was there any
interruption of the low battery signal until January 21, 2015,

15, OnlJanuary 24, 20151 observed an envelope posted on Iris Canada’s door at
670 Page Street. The envelope remained there, undisturbed, until January 31, 2015.

16.  Irecall Iris Canada coming to the residence on January 31, 2015 with someone I
understood to be her niece. T met Iris Canada and her niece outside the building, along with
several other neighbors and Iris Canada appeared disoriented and unsure of what was
happening around her.

17. Based on my having lived at 678 Page Street for almost 12 years, and having
observed the comings and goings, sounds, and general neighborly observations on an almost
daily basis, I am firmly convinced that Iris Canada has not resided at her residence since

approximately June 2012,

-5-
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||DATED: October_2

1 declare under penalty of perury

|| foregoing is trile and correct. -
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Andréew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel: 415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

Superior Court of Califormnia,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT ~ STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

A\

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF ALEXANDER APKE
IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY

IRIS CANADA un individual, OLD PENDING APPEAL
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California Dater N het 1. 2016
cotporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Til:n . 2”8'5'; n?r :
. Dept.: 502
Defendants. Judge: Hon. James A, Robertson, I
I, Alexander Apke, declare as follows:
1. I have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. I have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 4 years, My residence is located 2 floots

above and one over from 670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit, 676 Page Street is my

full time and only residence.

-
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2. When 1 first moved into 676 Page Street, I would regularly see Iris Canada at
least 3 times a week, She opened the door to her unit 670 Page Street whenever soﬁeone
opened the building front door or when Twalked down the stairs and past h.exl‘ unit. We used to
have conversations about the weather, recently visiting friends and relatives, and her home.
Particularly she liked talking about when she moved from the top ’ﬂoor of the building down to
670 Page Street. [ always helped her bringing the mail from the mailboxes on the ground floor,
up to her unit on the first floor.

3. Iris Canada had regular Meals on Wheels deliveries that suddenly stopped, and
deliveries of what appeared to 4be medicine sat in front of her door for months. Béth the
stopping of meals and the drug deliveries piling up occurred in the sumrﬁer of 2012. At the
time, everyone in the building asked each other when we had last seen iris Canada. I distinctly
remember someone coming to visit Iris Canada at the time, and I couldn't help them, telling
them that I hadn't seen her in a while.

| 4, In the past 4 years, I have only seen Iris Canada in or éround the building
perhaps a total of 6-7 times. She has stayed overnight in the building maybe at most three

times, usually leaving with Iris Merriouns early the next day.

[y
=)
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5. Since I primarily work from homie, over the past 4 years, [ have been able to
observe Iris Merriouns pick up Iris Canada's mail or other deliveries relatively infrequently,
in.itially every few months or so, and only increasing to approximately once a month in the past
year or so. I have also seen Iris Merriouns intercept the mail person to get the mail without ever

stepping into the building. I have never seen Iris Canada with Iris Merriouns whenever the mail

was removed from the premises.
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6. On ng 6th, 2015 and'separately on January 9th, 2016 1 noticed that al] the
lights to 670 Page were off und looked at the 670 Page Street PG&E electricity meter in the
garage said there was no service, all the other meters to other units had service, The power was
subsequently restored the next day in each case, but nat before someone shows up from
sbniewhere else, without 4 sighling of Iris C'anada. In one instance, 1 saw Iris Merriouns leave
the building, in anotﬁer I only heard that one of the other residents of the building saw the door
gjar and heard noises from inside the unit.

| 7. On March 14th, 2016, a Comeast truck was in frorit of the building to install
service at 670 Page Street, This was about 5 days before someone with a camera showed up,
presumably to take pictures ot Iris Lanada watching tv in her home Not long after I read a
news article or blog post shnwmg a photo of Tris Canada and a TV in the background with
comment stating that one of her hobbies is watching TV. The year before, around October |
15th, 2015, Comcast was required to move their outdoor cable service box at our building 668-
678 Page due to it blocking the new construction project at 690 Page Street at the time. The
only unit in the building that had active cable service was 674 Page Street when the boi was
relocated. v

8. On Sebtember 12th 2016 at 9:04 pm, two days before the éheriff was scheduled
to reposes 670 Page and 5 days after the undisturbed posting was on the door, I heard the
building door and then a few seconds later a mailbox open. I rushed down the stairs from my
uni{ and noticed that the sheriff's posting was removed, and quickly snapped a photograph of
the apartment door without the posted notice. While fwas going down the stairs I heard mail
being ruffled, and the building door open and close again juét about when I took the picture.

About 30 minutes later at 9:33 pm, I was leaving the building and ran into both Iris Canada and
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Iris Merriouns, they were at the building door just when I opened it. Immediately upon Iris
Merriouns seeing me, she angrily asked "Can I help you?", I said no as I continued to exit the

building, Iris Canada did not appear in distress at the time, and was being helped into the

vbuilding by Iris Merriouns. The building door closed behind them, and I took out my phone, re-

opened the building door, and took a picture of both Iris' walking up the stairs without the
sherifly notice on the front dnnf of 670 Page Stteet unit, 10 minutes later, my wife Anna calls
me to get back home ASAP gince the paramedics were at and in the building. T rushed home,
saw the ambulance and heard the paramedips inside 670 Page Street, Both front doors were
open, to the building and 670 Page. I continued upstairs back to my unit and later came back

down to walk my dog. The paramedics were still in 670 Page and as I was walking down, 1

‘ briefly heard the paramedics say that they would be taking Iris to the hospital for observation.

As I’was walking the dog, I saw the ambulance leave and saw Iris Merriouns get into her car,
which was parked in front of a fire hydrant, and drive away.

9. The inability to condo convert has impacted my family in a4 number of ways. 1
am unable to get a fixed mortgage as Tenancy In Common mortgages are only available as

adjus;cable rate and also have significantly higher interest rates compared to standard 30 year

I
[

fixed mortgages. Not only do I pay mof;; bﬁt I will have to worry about the Federal Reserve
Bank-interest rate increases. I also will be required to refinance every few years to avoid large
balooning interest' rates on my mortgage. My two year old daughter is nearly ready to enter
school, but I am concerned about ha\\'ing the financial stability to be able to save for school,

other learning expenses, and later even college tuition. This also is a concern withvbeing able to

save for retirement,
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10.  With the behavior and general negativity of Iris Merriouns, I am concerned with
the welfare of my home and family. I especially wotry anytime I leave the building that
something might happen when I am not home. My first interaction with Iris Merriouns, was
when Iris Canad‘a disappearcd and cveryone was wondering what happened to her, it set the
tone for all future encounters, I simp]y asked what happened to Iris Canada, we hadn't seen her
, and

in a while, and the acrimonious response from Iris Merriouns was, "I don't know yoy"

initially didn't want to answer at all, and then said she was fine,

11.  ‘There have been 2 separate incidents where the media and a number of tenant
rights advocales, have picketed in front of our building. Both times, I was concerned about
what some of these people were capable of doing, not only during the protests, but later even
after they left, many of them seemed angry enough to eséalate their actions beyond the protest
alone, Many of the protestors were not peaceful'as. they claimed they would be. Making
statements that I wouldn't want my or any other child to hear, yet my daughter could and did
hear it

12, The most recent of the two prétesls on September 22nd. There was a very large
protest of over 100 people. At least 5 or possibly more individuals trespassed on my roof to pui
up a very large banner, and despite me telling them that they were trespassing and that they
needed to take down their banner. They ignored my request, and continued with their rally.
Even after going onto the roof to take down their banner, I was chased by one of the protesters
who demanded their banner back. A policeman that saw what happened and was less than 15
feet away from the incident told the protester that they needed to get down off of my roof

before they would get their banner back. A minute or two later, the same person jumped over

-5-
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or crawled under a fence into my back yard to take the banner, and subsequently traspaésed on

my roof again to put up the same banner. When I went on the roof to once again attempt to take
the banner off of my home, this B‘me they had reinforcements, and didn't take it down until
after the mob sterted moving down the s&aet In fact, our garnge was broken into the noxt
morning after the protest on September 23, suspiciously. While we can’t be sure that tho two
events are Hnked, in the 5 years I have lived at 676 Page, this is the first time we ever had a
break-in, less than a day after a large protest at the building, In particular, as a result of the
trespassing anéi actions of the protestors, T am concemed for the safety of my home and family.

T declate under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

Alexander Apke Z% '

FAX SIGNATURE

foregoing 18 ttue and cotroct,

DATED: September 24 , 2016
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ZACKS & FREEDMAN, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, California 94104 Tled. o O i Fl,

momysionPLAINTIFFS | W2652043

st e of coon, judiciel distfict and Briveh court, i oy
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WfOR THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

Plagadths
PETER M. DWENS

Deferdant:

IRIS CANADA

Dates 1 T Gapitr i Lrise Harioars

‘DECLARATION | 10/12/2015| 10:00 am. Wod CGC 14 543437

MEALS ON WHEELS OF SAN FRANCISCO
1875 Fairfax Avenue
San Francisco, CA 94124 .
RECORDS PERTAINING T0: RIS CANADA
670 Page Street
San Francisco, CA

1.02 CERTIFICATION OF RECORDS COPIED (Custodian's Initials:_[S/AC)
2 1 any & duly glithorized Custodian of Records; or other gualified witness, for the
above-named business. As such | have the authority to certify these records.
b The photocopled records submitted herswith are tise coplies 6f all records.
deseribed I the Deposition Subpena/Authorization.
¢. To the best of my knowledge, all such records were prepared or compiled by the
personnel of the-above-named business in the ordingry course of business; at of
near the time of the acts, conditions, or events recorded.
d. No documents have been withheld In trder to avoid their being photocopied. If we have
only ;’Jart' of the records deschibed it the Depos‘itian Subpena/Autherization, such records-as avallable are provided:

2 ] CERTIFICATION OF NO RECORDS (Custodzan s fnitialst_______)
#: 1 st #duly authorized Custodian of Regoids, of other qualifisd witriess, Tor the
_abovesnamed busingss. As such | have the authority to. certify these records.
b: A thorough search has been made for the documents describied in the Deposition Subpenia/Authorization
and, based on the information provided to us for identification, 1o such records were found,
¢. Nov copies-of récords-are transmitted because wé do ot have sald records,
¥ no recerds, pleass explain '

| declare under penalty of perjury under the faws of the State of California that the faregoing is true and correct,
arid that this declaration was executed on (date). 1. S O~ 187 at (place). S ey Fvencts (O caomia.

Print niame, ?Qk‘lﬁ m egie- Cru% Signature

Witnessed

DECLARATION OF CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS C.CP. 1985-1997, 2015:2021
W2652043 Evid. Code 1560-1566; etc.
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ANDREW M. ZACKS, SBN 147794
MARK B. CHERNEYV, SBN 264946
ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C.

235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel: 415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Superior Court of Calffornia,
County of San Francisco

10/01/2015
Clerk of the Court
BY:ROMY RISK

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

VS.

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California

corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

1, Peter Owens, declare as follows:

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF PETER M. OWENS
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR IN THE
ALTERNATIVE SUMMARY
ADJUDICATION

Date: December 22, 2015

Time:  9:30 a.m.

Dept.: 501

Judge: Hon. Ronald E. Quidachay

Action Filed: December 30, 2014
Trial Date:  January 25, 2016

1. In August 2002, my wife, brother and I bought the six-unit building commonly

known as 668-78 Page Street in San Francisco. I lived in Unit 672 and later in Unit 668 with

my brother Christopher from the fall of 2002 until the fall of 2003 while we renovated 5 of the

6 units in building. All five units were sold as TIC units over summer and fall of 2003.

2. The only unit we did not renovate was Unit 670. It was occupied by Iris

Canada, a then 86-year-old woman who had lived there many years. Over the time I was there,

s

DECLARATION OF PETER OWENS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
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I became well acquainted with Iris Canada and visited her often. I particular, I temember we
threw a party for her 87" birthday in our apartment. She came with her old friend “Mr.
Charlie”. Though in her late 80°s she danced and sang told stories from the 50’s when she was
a young woman in San Francisco. We became quite fond of her over this time. Although not
required to do so, and to the best of our knowledge unprecedented, during 2004 and 2005 we
negotiated a life estate for Iris Canada with her attorney at the time, Stephen Collier of the
Tenderloin Housing Clinic. The life estate agreement enabled her to remain living in the unit
for less than she had been paying for rent. One important term of the life estate was that Iris
Canada permanently reside at 670 Page Street as the sole and only occupant. The benefit of
the Life Estate was always intended to benefit Iris Canada and Iris Canada alone. It was
designed to allow her to continue to live in the unit, as she had for many years, as long as she
could take care of herself. The sole residency requirement was also intended to prevent other
people unknown to us from moving in the unit and taking advantage of Iris and potentially
undermining our intent.

3 In 2003 I moved back to Hanover, New Hampshire, where I currently reside.
Although I have not lived at 668-78 Page Street for quite some time, I am aware that other
residents living at the property would see Iris Canada on a regular basis, and look after her.
Additionally, I have continued to keep in touch with Iris Canada through cards and telephone
calls, typically around her birthday as well as other times during the year. I would estimate
that I generally corresponded with Iris Canada approximately six times per year.

4, In November 2005 I had a telephone conversation with Iris Canada where she
had indicated to me that her stove was broken, and that she had broken her arm in two places.

After hearing of her injury, I became concerned about her welfare, and hired a social worlker,

o
DECLARATION OF PETER QWENS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
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Sara Madigan, with the Community Health Resource Center, to check on Iris Canada. After
her first home visit with Iris Canada, Sara Madigan indicated in her report that Iris Canada
“reports that her nieces and friends help her with food, housekeeping, errands and doctors
appointments. She is connected with Western Addition Senior Center, gets ‘meals on wheels’
delivered meals and uses their transportation as well as the city paratransit program. There is
some clutter in her home (photo albums, boxes and papers). She reports her nieces don't have
time to help her or physically cannot. Says she cannot afford to hire someone to help her
clean. She does not qualify for low income or free assistance as her income is too high. [
believe she could afford a housekeeping service or a homecare agency, they charge between
812-20/hour. She is experiencing some social withdrawal, isolation and possibly depression
but she did not feel she wanted any assistance in addressing these. Says she will contact
Western Addition Senior Cenfer if she needs anything.”

5. In October 2006, I received a call from Melissa Dubasik in Unit 672 informing
me that Iris had been showing signs of forgetfulness and possible dementia. Iris Canada had
locked herself out of her apartment several times and required a locksmith to get her back
inside. Melissa Dubasik had contacted Iris Canada’s niece, Bertha Johnson, who arranged to
have keys made and left with Alexandra (next door neighbor at the time) and Melissa Dubasik
(who lived upstairs) in case it happened again.

6. Up to approximately 2007, Iris would always send me greeting cards or notes
along with her monthly life estate payments. The last note I received from Iris was on June 30,
2007. That note stated “Hello Peter and Fi amily. About to make another birthday. I am doing

OK. Trying to get ready for Church and get this mail off to you. God bless. Love to all, Iris.”

3-
DECLARATION OF PETER OWENS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
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Monthly checks continued for the next five years however I never received another note after
that one.

7. In August 2007 I received an email from Melissa Dubasik reporting an incident
where Iris had unwittingly left the gas to the stove on. For obvious reasons associated with the
safety of Iris Canada, the other residents, and the building as a whole, this incident greatly
concerned me. The source was only discovered after considerable panic and the help of a
fireman. Melissa Dubasik was very concerned also because “The smell of gas was very strong.
What if she had left her unit with the stove on or just forgot all together and none of us were
home to check on her? As much as I like Iris I cannot but help feel she is unable to look after
herself based on other similar situations that have occurred over the years. Right or wrong the
perception is you bear a level of responsibility for her and the unit. This stems from the fact
that you have been so kind to her over the years. Ido not want to sound harsh or insensitive
howéver I think we all agree that our safety and the safety of the building are of the utmost
importance. ”

8. By January' 0f 2009 the incidents of leaving the gas on had continued, and
gotten so bad that the other tenants in the building contacted Adult Protective Services about
Iris Canada. Ireceived a letter dated January 26, 2009 from Larry Henderson (Worker #4354)
informing me of seven documented incidents of gas being left on or Iris Canada’s apartment
being filled with smoke, While he had hoped to have the stove gas line capped (requiring work
to be performed by PG&E and a site visit), he was only able to temporarily shut off the gas
valve to protect her. “I was working with client’s niece (also named Iris [Iris Merriouns],
discussed infra) who was supposed to be working on the issue, but I have not heard back from

her in some time now. At this point, I need to close the case.” To the best of my knowledge,
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from this point forward Iris Canada no longer used her stove, nor was the stove able to be used
in its current state, and Iris Canada and depended on family members and social service
providers to bring her meals.

| 9. While I have received no direct contact from Iris Canada after 2007, I did
continue to get updates on her welfare from time to time from Michel Bechirian, my long time
neighbor and building partner who was also very friendly with Iris Canada.,

10.  OnJuly 12™ 2012 just after midnight (EST), I received an email from Michel
Bechirian reporting that Chris Beahn (Iris Canada’s upstairs neighbor) had discovered Iris
Canada had gone missing earlier that evening, Chris Beahn was worried about Iris Canada
and was forced to use the spare key to gain access to her apartment that evening to perform a
check on welfare. Chris Beahn discovered that Iris Canada was not there. I tried calling her
niece Bertha Johnson but was told I had the wrong number.

11, Four days later, Michel Bechirian informed me that he was able to reach another
niece of Iris Canada, Iris Merriouns. Michel Bechirian indicated that Iris Merriouns came over
to break some family news, Iris Merriouns saw the state of the apartment, and quickly took Iris
Canada away. At that time, Iris Merriouns arranged for an exterminator to come to the
apartment and to return periodically for the next month to address an obvious infestation
problem that had developed. Iris Merriouns also explored the idea of disposing of a lot of the
accurnulated junk from the apartment, possibly by renting a mini dumpster. Iris Merriouns
also mentioned there was a problem with a hole in the sheet-rock in the apartment and she also
inquired about the Food Bank Center located next door. It was at this point it became clear to
Michel Bechirian that Iris Canada was at a stage where she was no longer reasonably able to

look after herself.
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12, My first contact with Iris Canada’s niece, Iris Merriouns, was by phone on
September 15" 2012. She confirmed with me that the apartment had become overrun with
roaches and vermin and that she was forced to move Iris Canada out of the apartment, and to
live with her at her residence in Oakland until she was able to have the apartment
professionally exterminated and cleaned up for habitable use. Iris Canada never moved back
into the Premises.

13. Iris Merriouns asked many questions about her aunt’s tenancy. She seemed
particularly interested in her Aunt’s “purchase of the condo.” I explained her that it was not a
condo but a TIC unit. T also explained that the granting of the Life Estate was limited to the
specific benefit of her Aunt so long as she lived there on her own and that it was materially
different from a standard real estate purchase. She did not seem to understand this distinction
and kept talking about “Bertha” (another niece) telling her Aunt Iris Canada had bought the
unit. I suggested consulting an attorney to have it explained and told her I would send her all
the documents for her review. 1 followed up that call by sending Iris Merriouns an email on
Sunday September 16™ in which I reiterated the nature of the Life Estate and the associated
financial terms. I also attached all the life estate documents. From that point forward (Fall
2012), each and every one of the life estate payments, arrived by mail with an Oakland
postmark.

14.  Iheard nothing from either Iris Canada or Iris Merriouns for approximately a
year after that. In April 2013, the life estate payments stopped coming. I made approximately
three or four phone calls, leaving messages, and also sent an email or two to Iris Merriouns,
each and every one of which went unreturned. Additionally, the phone number I had for Iris

Canada at 670 Page Street had been disconnected. Four months later, when we returned from
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our summer vacation in early August, we found a voicemail message left by Iris Merriouns on
July 21%, Tt detailed a long story about how she had not been well and was unable to respond.

I sent her an email and left a phone message on August 4™, Again they were not returned, On
August 17" 2013, 1 once again emailed Iris Merriouns again asking for clarification on the
status of Iris Canada, her living arrangements, and the status of the months of overdue life
estate payments, and advised her that her Aunt (Iris Canada) was in violation of the Life Estate.
I once again, attached the related Life Estate documents. I did finally receive a phone call in
return that same day (August 17") in which she explained she had health issues and promised
to send all the back payments by FEDEX the next day. She also said she would give me an
update on the long-term status of her Aunt as soon as she was back on her feet. Eight days
later (August 26™), after no FEDEX package had arrived, I once again emailed Iris Merriouns
for an explanation. Again, I received no response. Finally a FEDEX package with the overdue
payments was delivered on September 3", However, no explanation of the plan for her Aunt
was ever receivgd. And more to the point, it had been over a year since the person we had a
contractual agreement, namely Iris Canada herself, had left the unit and disconnected her
phone. Since her move out in early July 2012, Iris Canada had made no effort to contact me,
explain her behavior, or provide me a means to contact her,

15.  Itravelled to San Francisco in late May of 2014 to be at the property for a San
Francisco City building inspection in conjunction with the TIC association’s application for
sub-division of building. On that date, I entered 670 Page Street, Iris Canada’s apartment.
Upon entering the unit, I made a number of observations that strongly evidenced that no one
had been living there for a very long time, First, the toilet bow! was bone dry, as all of the

water from the bowl had evaporated. The bathtub in the bathroom had mold in it and also had
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abviously not been used for a very long time. Rodent traps and roach traps lined most all of
the walls of the apartment and virtually all of the furniture was stacked up in the center of the
back rooms. It was patently obvious nobody had used the furniture in é very long time.
Additionally, the beds were covered with bags of old clothes, evidencing that nobody had used
either the clothing or the beds in a very long time. The refrigerator was completely empty
except for about two-dozen Dr. Pepper cans that I could not determine how long they had been
there. There was vermin excrement on top of all of tables and all of the shelves in the kitchen,
also evidencing that nobody had been in the apartment for a very long time. Large piles of
trash blocked the back porch door, and there were rolls and rolls of urine-soaked and feces-
infested carpeting. The smell alone was horrendous, further evidencing that nobody had lived
in the apartment for a very long time. The calendar in the kitchen displayed the month “July
2012.” The only mail I was able to observe was a 2013 holiday card from Chris Beahn,
located on the front hall bookcase and unopened, Virtually all of the lights had been left on. 1
cannot emphasize enough the very strong and unpleasant stench that permeated 'the entire unit.
Six true and correct copies of photographs accurately representing the condition of 670 Page
Street from this visit are attached to the Exhibits in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Exhibits™) collectively as Exhibit E.

16.  After seeing the decrepit state of 670 Page Street and it being obviously both
unlived in and unlivable, I sincerely wondered if Iris Canada was even alive. I called her niece
Iris Merriouns and left a message asking if I could see her, Iris Merriouns called me back and
we set up a time to meet at a Starbucks in Oakland on Saturday morning May 31, 2014. At the
meeting, Iris Canada was there, along with Iris Merriouns, and Iris Canada looked well and

seemed to remember me. In the course of conversation, Iris Merriouns informed me that Iris
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had been living with her in Oakland since 2012 and was attending a day program at a senior
center during the week, while Iris Merriouns was at work. Iris Merriouns told me it was
difficult for her to do activities and personal errands on weekends, because she had to care for
her aunt, Iris Canada. For example, she told me that later that Saturday Iris Merriouns was to
attend some kind of event or meeting and she had no choice but to bring Iris Canada with her,
Iris Merriouns also asked me not to discuss the state of the apartment with Iris Canada because
it would upset her. I agreed, but told Iris Merriouns that I would be in touch with her to
discuss mandatory and necessary repairs to the unit to make it habitable and safe for human
occupancy, to discuss the pending sub-division and associated paperwork, and the status of Iris
Canada’s residency.

17.  Over the course of that summer, namely 2014, I tried no less than 24 times to
contact Iris Canada thru Iris Merriouns by phone, email, and text message, all to discuss her
tenancy, the state of the unit, and the subdivision paperwork of the building."! While I received
several text messages from Iris Merriouns promising a response soon, there was never any
follow-up. Finally, on September 14, 2014, 1 emailed Iris Merriouns advising her that due to
the lack of any response whatsoever from Iris Canada, who remains the holder of the life estate
and responsible person, I had no choice but to turn the matter of the life estate, the lack of
residency, the state of the apartment, and the general lack of all communication and
cooperation regarding the occupancy, over to my attorney. Iris Merriouns called me back

immediately. I asked to speak with Iris Canada and she put her on the phone. I spoke briefly

! The subdivision process of converting the building from TIC to condominiums requires that all eccupants sign
certain paperwork. As a result of Iris Canada’s life estate, she is a necessary party to sign the paperwork, The
conversion process, and the eventual conversion itself, would have no impact on Iris Canada’s residency, life
estate, or her right to occupy the Premises for the remainder of her life. Additionally, Iris Canada’s life estate
would have continued to be personally honored by me, and the conversion itself would have had no effect on her
ability to reside at the Premises.

0.
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with Iris Canada, and as soon as I started to ask her about her the status of the apartment and
her occupancy, Iris Merriouns immediately took the phone away from her. That was the last
time I have spoken to Iris Canada.

18. Most recently, this past fall and winter of 2014, I remained in close
communication with my neighbors at the property. It became abundantly clear from multiple
observations that Iris Canada was not residing at 670 Page Street, and that she had not lived at
there since at least as early as June or July of 2012.

19, Over the course of this past fall and winter, 2014, I sent three certified letters,
on September 10, 2014, September 30, 2014, and December 15, 2014, all to Iris Canada at 670
Page Street requesting that she please contact me. I have received no response to any of those
letters.

20.  Due to the lack of response to my requests to contact me to address the
conditions and state of the apartment, I made arrangements with a contractor to fix the most
egregious of the damages and work identified as code violations by the SF Dept of Building
Inspection backat the end of May 2014. I sent and an email to Iris Merriouns on September
14™ and a certified letter on September 30™ notifying Iris Canada of the planned work, stating
that since she had not resided there since July 2012, I assumed that scheduling the work would
not be a problem and asking her to contact me if she had any questions. Upon notification by
the contractor regarding a date certain for the work to begin, I sent an email to Iris Merriouns
asking her to advise her Aunt that work would be starting on Tuesday or Wednesday of the
following week. When the contractor arrived on Wednesday October 8" to start the work, he
was unable to access the unit because the key wasn’t working. I sent Iris Merriouns an email

that day, asking her to inform her Aunt that the lock was not working and advise her that we
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would have it repaired and would reschedule the work for the following week. I received a
voicemail the next day (October 9™) and an email on October 13" admitting she had
unilaterally changed the locks without notice to us, to prevent any access to the unit to “protect
her (Aunt’s) privacy.” Despite repeated requests via email, no key was provided to us, the
owner of the unit. As a result of the refusal of Iris Canada to cooperate with our efforts to
repair the unit’s deficiencies, we have been unable to make needed repairs.

21. On October 22, 2014, my wife and I were in San Francisco for a conference and
visited 670 Page Street, also to check on the building and meet with our co-owners. We
confirmed that other than Iris Canada showing up at Geoff Piece’s door for a “photo-op” the
week before, not a single resident of the building had seen Iris Canada in well over two years.
Every resident of the building unanimously agreed and confirmed that 670 Page Street, Iris
Canada’s unit, had been unoccupied since Iris Canada had moved out in 2012,

22.  During the final week of October 2014, the neighbors at the property emailed
me to inform me that a bundle of packages delivered to Iris Canada at 670 Page had been
sitting outside the front door, and that the packages had remained unclaimed at the door for at
least 5 days.

23.  During the second week in November 2014, the neighbors again sent me notice
of multiple failed UPS delivery notices, which also had been posted on Iris Canada’s door.
These notices remained on Iris Canada’s door unclaimed for days.

24. Around December 13, 2014, a next-door neighbor and resident of the building,
Geoff Pierce, began to hear the beeping of a smoke alarm in Unit 670, Iris Canada’s unit.
Geoff Pierce informed me that had repeatedly knocked on the door and left numerous notes

taped to the door, however all of his efforts went unanswered for weeks and the later
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determined low battery smoke alarm beeping went off constantly. The notes left by Geoff
Pierce were finally retrieved and the noise stopped on January 21, 2015, after remaining and
pinging for well over a month.

25.  Because the locks had been changed at 670 Page Street, and I was not provided
a set, as the owner, on January 24, 2015, I sent Iris Canada a “Notice of Emergency Entry”
informing her that due to her non-response to multiple written notices requesting emergency
access to unit 670, we would be re-keying the lock at 10:00 a.m. on January 28, 2015, and
replacement keys would be immediately available. The Notice of Emergency Entry was also
posted to Iris Canada’s front door, where it remained posted for a week.

26. On January 28, 2015, at 10:00 a.m. the locksmith came to change the locks. Iris
Canada was not there, nor did she make an appearance. In order to give the locksmith access
to the rear door, Geoff Pierce passed thru the unit and observed conditions essentially identical
to my observations in May 2014, eight months earlier. The toilet bowl remained bone dry.
There was still mold in the bathtub. The furniture was still stacked in the middle of the back
rooms and the refrigerator was still empty except for the cans of Dr. Pepper, which were in the
identical same place. The only difference at all in the entire apartment was the addition of a
new package of smoke alarm batteries on the main shelf, which has obviously been used in an
effort to cease the low battery beeping. Three true and correct copies of photographs
accurately representing the condition of 670 Page Street on this January 28, 2015 visit are
attached to the Exhibits collectively as Exhibit F,

27.  To the best of my knowledge, since she moved out in June of 2012, Iris Canada
has come to the property only threé times; October 14, 2014, December 9, 2014 and January

31,2015. Each time, a neighbor emailed me to alert me to the fact that she was on the
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premises. Each time she was in the company of her niece, Iris Merriouns, and each time she
stayed on the prelﬁises for only a short time, an hour or less. Since her last appearance on the
evening of January 31, 2015 to the best of my knowledge, Iris Canada has not been on the
premises.

28.  Since the initial drafting of this declaration in April 2015, to the best of my
knowledge, Iris Canada has appeared only once more at the apartment. On May 8", 20151
was notified by one of the building’s residents that she was in the apartment for about 2.5
hours in the late afternoon. One of the other residents photographed Iris Canada and Iris
Merriouns leaving in a late model black Mercedes SUV at approximately 7pm. That evening I
received a short email from Iris Merriouns complaining about one of the security cameras in
the front hall (three security cameras were installed by the building owners several weeks
earlier in response to security concerns in the neighborhood). I have had no other contact with
either Iris Canada or Iris Merriouns. All contact has been handled by my attorney as a result of
the pending litigation.

29.  The condition of the apartment described in paragraph 14 are recorded in a
series of photographs from late May 2014 (Exhibits, Exhibit F). Correction of the described
deficiencies and damages to the apartment have not been remedied due to non-cooperation of
Iris Canada to have the work done (see paragraphs 19, 20, and 25). The primary costs to
remedy these deficiencies are attempts to get into the units to do the work, and not the work
itself. The costs incurred were related to fully noticed attempts to access the unit on October 8,
2014 and January 28, 2015 was approximately $600. 'This includes $512 for a locksmith and
about 2 hours of wasted contractor time trying to access the unit. As access was never

successful, the work remains uncompleted.
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30.  On or about June 14, 2005, my business partners and co-plaintiffs in this action,
Stephen Owens, Carolyn Radisch, and I, all entered into a sales agreement (“Bill of Sale”)
whereby Iris Canada was granted a life estate equivalent to a 16 2/3 interest in the property
commonly known as 668-670-672-674-676-678 Page Street, San Francisco, California, and
specifically occupancy in the unit known as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California, in
exchange for monetary consideration in the amount of $250,000. Additionally, Defendant
made, executed, and delivered to my partners and I a promissory note, dated October 6, 2005,
(“Promissory Note™) evidencing the finance agreement for the purchase of the life estate. My
partners and I are the holders of that Promissory Note. A true and correct copy of that
complete Bill of Sale and associated complete Promissory Note are attached to the Exhibits in
support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative Summary
Adjudication (“Exhibits™) as Exhibits A and C respectively.

31.  Pursuant to the terms of the Bill of Sale and the Promissory Note, my partners
and I executed and delivered to Iris Canada a grant of life estate (“Life Estate”) granting Iris
Canada, for the term of her natural life, for as long as she permanently resides, as the sole and
only occupant, the property known as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California. The Life
Estate was recorded at the San Francisco Assessor-Recorder’s office on October 19, 2005 as
DOC-2005-10544455-00. A truc and correct copy of that complete and entire Life Estate is
attached to the Exhibits as Exhibit B.

32.  To secure the payment on the Promissory Note, and as part of the transaction,
Iris Canada made, executed, and delivered to my partners and myself, as beneficiaries, a deed
of trust (*“Deed of Trust”). The Deed of Trust was executed on October 6, 2015 by Iris Canada,

and was duly recorded at the San Francisco Assessor-Recorder’s Office, as DOC-2005-
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1054456-00 on October 19, 2005. My partners and myself are the holders of that Deed of
Trust., A true and correct copy of that complete Deed of Trust is attached to the Exhibits as
Exhibit D.

33.  The Grant of Life Estate sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action. First, as a term and condition of the life estate itself, Iris Canada is
required to permanently reside at the premises (Grant of Life Estate, Exhibit C, Page 1, second
to last paragraph). Second, the life estate may be revoked if Iris Canada fails to make the
payments as required by the Promissory Note or if Iris Canada violates the terms of the Deed
of Trust. (Grant of Life Estate, Exhibit C, Page 2, Paragraph 1).

34, The Deed of Trust sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action. First, the purpose of the Deed of Trust is to secure payment of the
Promissory Note between myself and my partners, and Iris Canada. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C,
Page 1). Second, the Life Estate may be revoked of Iris Canada violates the terms of the Deed
of Trust. (Deed of Trust, Page 2, Paragraph 1) Third, the Deed of Trust sets forth that in the
event the Grant of Life Estate is revoked due to a violation by Iris Canada of a one of the
terms, all obligations secured by the Deed of Trust, at the option of myself and my partners,
shall become immediately due and payable. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C Page 1, last paragraph).
Fourth, Iris Canada agrees to keep the Premises in good condition and repair and to not commit
or permit waste to occur at the premises. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C, Page 2, Paragraph A,1.).

35, The Promissory Note sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action. First, if Iris Canada breaches ahy term, condition, or covenant of
the Deed of Trust, the balance of the Promissory Note debt which remains unpaid at that time,

shall become due and immediately payable at the option of myself and my partners.
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(Promissory Note, Exhibit B, Page 1, last paragraph). Second, in the event an attorney is hired
to enforce payment pursuant to the Promissory Note, Iris Canada agrees to pay all such
expenses and attorney’s fees associated with enforcement. (Promissory Note, Exhibit B, Page
2). As of the issuance of Notice of Default (discussed infra) the outstanding balance owed by
Iris Canada pursuant to the Promissory Note is $171,600.00.

36. On November 3, 2014, by way of my counsel, Iris Canada was served with a
Notice of Default, via Certified Mail, (“Notice of Default”) informing her of the default of her
obligations under the Grant of Life Estate and the Deed of Trust, as a result of her failing to
permanently reside at the Premises as well as her permitting the Premises to fall into disrepair
and failure to maintain the property in good condition and repair. Additionally, Iris Canada
was informed of my partners’ and my election to revoke the life estate and the demand the
accelerated payments due pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Trust and the Promissory Note.
A true and correct copy of that Notice of Default with Certified mailing is attached as Exhibit
D.

37.  Iam firmly convinced that Iris Canada has not resided at 670 Page Street since
late June/early July of 2012—a period of over 3 years. Prior to mid-2012, observers report a
steady pattern of visitors coming and going from the apartment, social encounters, concerns
being raised about Iris Canada’s well-being, meals being brought in, lights going on and off,
coming and going to doctor’s appoints, errands run—in short the typical residential activities
related to an elderly person living on her own. After the well documented “move out” of Iris
Canada in late June/early July 2012 due to the horrific conditions found in the apartment, these

activities ceased. Since that time, the apartment has remained frozen time, lights left on, toilet
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bowl water evaporated, refrigerator empty/unchanged, furniture piled up, and calendar showing
July 2012.

38.  There is a substantial body of evidence that prior to 2012, Iris Canada was no
longer able live on her own in the apartment. The sequence of documented events over the
preceding seven years (between 2005 and 2012), suggests an individual who is increasingly
unable to live independently as the ‘sole and only occupant’ of 670 Page Street. By June 2012,
when her niece moved her out at age 96, her residency in the unit had become a clear a danger
to herself and to the other residents of the building. More than three years later, with now
Iris’s 99" now having turned 99 in July, there is simply no scenario where she could move
back into the unit and reside independently without once again endangering both herself and

her neighbors.

Dated: September 30, 2015

PeterlQOwens
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EXHIBIT J



SIRKINLAW apc

388 Markeft Street » Suite 1300 ¢ San Francisco ¢ California » 94111 ¢ 415.738.8545(v) ¢ 707.922.8641 (f)
dasirkin@earthlink.net « www.andysirkin.com

February 26, 2018
Rich Hillis, President
San Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94102-4689

Re: 668-678 Page Street Condo Conversion Application

Dear President Hillis and Members of the Planning Commission:
I am writing to clarify two important matters relating to the above-referenced conversion application.

First, I would like to explain our use of the term “vacant” to describe the status of Unit 670 in the “Six
Year Occupancy History” section of the SFDPW Conversion Application Form. At the time we prepared
the application, our office was informed by all of the other owners of the property that neither Ms. Iris
Canada, nor anyone else, had resided in Unit 670 since November 2012. This information was
corroborated by Iris Merriouns, Ms. Canada’s grandniece, who swore under oath that Ms. Canada
moved into Ms. Merriouns’ East Bay home in 2012.

Our office has been preparing San Francisco condominium conversion applications since 1993, and
has prepared an average of 60 such applications per year for the past 20 years. Throughout this
period, it has been our practice, and based on long experience, the accepted and preferred practice of
SFDPW, to describe apartments in which no one was residing as “vacant” in the “Six Year Occupancy
History” chart on the application. This approach is consistent with our understanding of the purpose
of the chart, which is to determine who is living in the building on the application date and who has
been living there during the six preceding years.

Neither SFDPW nor any other San Francisco governmental agency has ever asked us to provide
information on the personal items or furnishings present in an apartment, and there is no part of the
SFDPW Conversion Application Form that requests such information. Consequently, we do not ask
our clients to provide information on whether personal property is present in the apartments, and we
do not indicate the presence of such items in the “Six Year Occupancy History”.

Next, I would like to explain why we, and SFDPW, believed Ms. Canada to be an owner rather than a
tenant. Under a deed recorded in 2005, Ms. Canada was granted an ownership interest in the
property. The existence of this deed was shown on the Preliminary Title Report. Based on the Report,
SFDPW requested that we provide a copy of Ms. Canada’s deed, which we did, after which SFDPW
confirmed in writing that it considered her to be an owner. Specifically, Cheryl Chan of SFDPW wrote
in an email dated June 11, 2014: “From the deed provided, Iris Canada is an owner of record. Please
have Iris sign and notarize the required documents for all owners in the ECP application.”

Respectfully,
D. Andrew Sirkin
SirkinLaw APC

DAS/as
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ZACKs & FREEDMAN, P.C.

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794 F L!m E”Q
Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)) San Frany ny F Gourt

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C. 0
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 MR 2 2 zom
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel: (415) 956-8100 CLERK.OF OURT
Fax: (415) 288-9755 By T (Bepuly Olerk
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, '

Peter M. Owens, et al.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an invdividual, ’ JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs,

Vs,

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants

OO RN e e
o"g’:;gﬁ.p.-um»-o\ooo

This action came on regularly for trial on March 21, 2016 in Department 502 of the
Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco, the Hon;)rable James A. Robertson, IT
Judge P:esiding; Plaintiffs appeared by their counsel Mark B. Chernev of Zacks & Freedman,
P.C., Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear.

The Court, having fead and considered the papers and evidence submitted, including

the Notice of Time and Place of Trial served on Defendant, Iris Canada, finds as follows:




') o

28

1 1. Dgfendant Iris Canada was properly served pursuant to Code of éi?iﬁ*rocedure
2 |1§594 with a Notice of Time and Place of Trial on February 2, 2016, noticing Defendant Iris
3 || Canada of the trial date of March 21, 2016;
4 2. Dei'endant Tris Canada failed to appear at the March 21 , 2016 trial;
2 3, The March 21, 2016 trial was continued to March 22, 2016 to pgrmit Plaintiffs
7 the opportunity to prepare a prove up of their cause of action based on Defendant Iris Canada’s
8 || failure to appear;
? 4. Defendant Iris Canada was properly noticed of the continued trial date and for
10 prove up hearing to be heard on March 22, 2016;
J E g i; 5. Thé Court conducted a prove up hearing f)n March 22, 2016, at which time the
%é % 13 || Court took judicial notice of the documents presented by Plaintiffs and heard testimony from
8 g g 14 }| Plaintiff, Peter M. Owens and' non-party witness Geoff Pierce;
% g g 15 6. Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear at the propérly noticed March 22, 2016
% % g 16 continued trial date and for prove up hearing.
N2z 17 ,
a« 18 - After having heard and reviewed evidence prgsented by Plaintiffs, and after having
19 || made a determination that the evidence presented by Plaintiffs appears to be just, and the
20 || failure of Defendant Iris Canada to appear at the properly noticed time and date for trial,
21 judgment shall be entered in favor of Plaintiffs, and against Defendant Iris Canada. Therefor,
22 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED THAT: judgment in this action
24 shall be in favor of Plaintiffs Peter M. Owens, Carolyn A. Radisch, and Stephen L. Owens, and
25 || against Defendant Iris Canada for:
26
27
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235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
* SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

BN N e e e
N =~ O O 0 3

Dated: March 22,2016

NN
SR GRS

© Q

. Immediate possession of the premises of 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California
against any and all occupants, and a wnt of posse;sion against Iris Canéda and any and
all occupants, known or unknown, shall issue;
. The Deed of Trust DOC-2005-1054456-00 is foreclosed and 670 Page Street, San
Francisco, California shall revert back to Plaintiffs, and that Defendant Iris Canada s
barred and foreclésed from all rights, élaims, interests, or equity of redemption in the
subject property when time for redemption has elapsed,;
. Defendant Iris Canada’s Life Estate DOC-2OOS-IO§4455-OO is terminated and any and
all property .hlteresté currently held by Defendant Iris Canada in 676 Page Street, San
Francisco, California are terminated and shall revert back to Plaintiffs;
. Defendant Iris Canada, her agents, and/or anyone acting on her behalf shall cease and
desist cauéing or permitting waste to occur at 670 Page Street, San Francisco,
California;

The Promissory Note, dated October 6, 2005 and executed by Defendant Iris Canada
has become immediately due and payable and Jjudgment .;xhall be entereci against
Defendant Iris Cahada for the sum of $171,600.00 in favor of Plaintiffs, the exaﬁt ;

amount prayed for in Plaintiffs’ Complaint.
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The undersigned Grant(s) deolares(s) that the
DOCUB?BTA'&J TRANSPER TAX
15 5 » UNTY §__ ___CITY
compurcd an the cansideration or value of praperty conveyed; or
. computed on the consideration value luss liens or encumbranaes remaining
at time of sate: or
. other;

GRANT OF LIFE ESTATE

. APN: Lot 015, Block 0843

Property Address: 668-678 Page Street
San Franeisco, CA

~ FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,

PETER M, OWENS and CAROLYN A. RADISCH, husband and wife, as community property
with right of survivorship, as to an undivided 2/18th interest, and STEPHEN L. OWENS,a

married man, as his sole and separate property, as to an undivided 1/18th interest, as
Tenants in Commaon : A

hereby GRANT A LIFE ESTATE to IRIS CANADA

ag to the Grantors’ specuﬁc interest in the real property in- the City of San Francisco, County of
San Francisco, State of California described as

-
!

See Legal Description attached and made a part hereto marked Exhibit “A”,

pursuant to the following terms:

For the term of Iris Canada's natural life, for as long as she permanently resides, as the sole and
only occupant, in the property commonly known as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California,

Excepting, therefrom however, Iris Canada’s tight to rent, lease or sublet the 670 Page Sireet
property and/ot Iris Canada’s right to have any other occupants living with Iris Canada at the 670
Page Street property, and the right of Iris Canada to assign, transfer, pledge or encumber her
interest in the propexty so as to secure any financial arrangement other than to Grantors herein,

Pagelof 3



Further reserving to said Grantors the right to revoke this Grant of Life Estate should Iris Canada.
fail to remit payments pursuant to the Promissory Note of even date hereof, the right of Grantors
to revolee this Grant of Life Estate should Iris Canada violate the terms of the Deed of Trust of
even date heteof, and the right of Grantors alone to refinance the property of which this Grant of
Life Estate is a part. Further reserving to said grantors any and all obligations to pay property
taxes for the duration of the life estate.

In case of such revocation being made, it shall be made and can only be made in writing, duly
acknowledged and recorded.

Dated:

STATE OF Bxsizsrnm [Ne W HampShire
COUNTY GF SaatFRaNcisea @ ra L Eon

on \elid)oB efare me Carrie A Hﬂ&me"

o personally nppearsd_F .
w&&i&zﬁ%  RoatiSchn
personally known 10 me or proved 1o e on this basis of

satisfectory evidence to be the person(s) whosename(s) Carolyn A. Radisch

{s/are subscribed 1o the within instrument and acknowledged S '

to me that hefshefthey execuled the same in Hisfher fheir *

authiarized capacity(ics) and that by hisMer/their signalure(s) ! -
an the ingtrument the persoss), or the entity upon behalf of Stephen L. bwens

which the person(s) acted, exeeuted the instrument,

WITNESS HAND WL SEAL.
Signature, W

" CARRIE A HAMEL, Notary Publia
My Commiission Explres February §, 2008

STATE OF CONNECTICUT:

1 88: West Hartford June 15, 2005
" COUNTY OF HARTFORD :

Personally appeared Stephen L. Owena, signer of
the foregeing, who acknowledged the same to be his

free act and deed before me
W"L & . Jacira

Kathleen C. Lauria

Notary Public

My Commission expires: ¢ “‘2% 'U¢
Page 2 of 3




EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DES CME TION
Property Information

668-670-672-674-676-678 Page Street
San Francisco, CA 94117

Legal Description - essor’s Block 084 t

"Commencing at a point on the nottherly line of Page Street; distant thereon 100 feet easterly from
the easterly line of Steiner Street; running thence easterly along said northerly line of Page Street
37 feet 10 % inches; thence at a right angle northerly 15 feet 9 inches; thence northwesterly along
a line which if extended would intersect the gasterly line of Steiner Street at a pont thereon 76
feet 5 inches nertherly from the northerly line of Page street 4 ¥ inches, more or less, to a point
distant 137 feet 6 incheés easterly from the easterly lien of Steiner Street; measured along a line
.drawn at right angles thereto; thence northerly and parallel with Steiner Street 91 feet 9 inches;
thence at a right angle westerly 37 fest 6 inches; thence at a right angle southetly 107 feet 6 -
inches to the northerly line of Page Street and the point of commencement.

Being a-portion of Westerly Addition Block Ne 370.
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Mon, Jan 31, 2005 11:48 AM

Subject: FW: Iris Canada

Date: Thursday, January 27, 2005 12:12 PM
From: Denise Leadbetter <denise@zackslaw.com>
To: <owensradisch@earthlink.net>

Hi peter, Carolyn, Stephen:
Hope you all are well.

Please lak me know your thoughts regarding the $650. I know that you have
always said that Iris is expecting to pay to you the equivalent of the rent
sha alwaye paid, but Steve is being a diligent attormey. I will clarify
with Steve that the Ytem B of the Promissory Note should satisfy his concern
re: balloon payments - i.e. there is none. Fuxther, I will let him know
that the 5250,000 is just an arbitrary amonnt apd that you shall continue to
pay the property taxes on this portion of the property.

Please adviee if my responges here are acceptable.
Thanks

Denise

e Origingl BESBAGEm———

Froms Steve Colliey [mailto:Stave@thelinic.oryg)
sent: Wednesday, Janvary 26, 2005 2:44 MM

To: azézackslaw.comy denisefzackslaw.com
Bubject: Iris Canada

Dear Andrew and Denise:

I bave reviewed the lifey eatate documents and discuased them with my
client, The 515,000 down payment is not a problem. She has saved the
rent and can pay it.

Regarding the note, I was wondering if your client would agree to a -
smaller monthly payment. My client bhad been paying $628% in xunt, and her
income 1s $1181 per month (social security). Would your clients accept
%650 por month?

Also, my client has no assets, other than burial insurance. So her
estate would not be able to pay any balloon payment. I assume your
clients understood this. So as far as the size of the note, I suppose it
does not make much difference, but I em wondering bow you came up with
the amount of $25¢,000. )

Lastly, the owners would have tO continus to pay property taxes on the
unit, ¥ do not know if the life estate is assessed and taxed, but my
client could not afford to pay property taxes on it.

steve Collier

o v
% 1. A . ualh
Wity ewbugd #e el s dosvs, wiude ).
4 ' . Mra, K pm'.f,_f‘ﬂ\rw
. M1 cowl
I N v+t s

. ® ) , wiAd
L TAA T iadwdidd 'ﬂga;le]-gnﬂ



EXHIBIT N



cam@ticlaﬂers.com

From: cam tic <camticbackup@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, January 23, 2018 9:26 AM

To: Cam Perridge

Subject: Fwd: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street

---------- Forwarded message ----------

From: Chan, Cheryl <Cheryl.Chan@sfdpw.org>

Date: Wed, Jun 11, 2014 at 9:42 AM

Subject: RE: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street
To: Cam Perridge <cam@ticlawyers.com>

Hi Cam,

From the deed provided, Iris Canada is an owner of record. Please have Iris sign and notarize the required
documents for all owners in the ECP application.

Thank you,

CHerYL CHAN

CITY & COUNTY OF S.F. - DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
Burecw of Street-Use and Mapping
1155 Market Sireet, 3rd Floor, San Francisca, CA 94103

Maiin: 415-554-5827 | Direct: 415-554-4885 | Fax: 415-554-5324

E-Mail: chervl.chan@sfdpw.org

From: Cam Perridge [mailto:cam@ticlawyers.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 10, 2014 3:56 PM




To: Chan, Cheryl
Subject: RE: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street

Hi Cheryl,

Please find attached the deed for Iris.

Cam

Cam Perridge
SirkinLaw APC
388 Market Street, Suite 1300

San Francisco, CA 94111

v. 415.839-6407
f.707. 922-8641

cam@ticlawyers.com

www.andysirkin.com

This email and any attachments may contain confidential and privileged material solely for the use of the intended
recipient. If you are not the intended recipient you may not open, copy, download or read the contents of this message.
If you have received this email in error please return it immediately to the sender.

From: Chan, Cheryl [mailto;Cheryl.Chan@sfdpw.org]
Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 4:20 PM

Tos: Sirkin & Associates
Subject: PID: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street




Good afternoon Cam,

We are currently reviewing the above application and found Mr. Iris Canada listed as an owner on the
Preliminary Title Report (attached), but we do not see his name listed in any of the deeds.

Please provide a deed showing Mr. Iris Canada’s